
 

Town of Atoka Municipal-Regional Planning Commission   denotes an item that appears on monitor 

 

 

 
Municipal-Regional Planning Commission 

Meeting Agenda 
    Atoka Town Hall                                  Thursday, June 24, 2021 
  334 Atoka-Munford Avenue      5:00 p.m. 

 

*Prior to the start of the meeting, a Public Hearing on the Resolution for the Subdivision Regulation 

Amendments will take place* 

 

I. Call to Order & Establishment of a Quorum 

II. Approval of the Minutes 

A. Regular Commission Meeting – May 13, 2021 

III. Reports 

A. Code Enforcement Monthly Activity Report 

IV. Old Business 

A. Consideration of Amendments to the Atoka Subdivision Regulations-Shelly Johnstone, AICP 

B. Report on Site and Design Review- Tri Star Nutrition 

C. Consideration of PFMT Holdings, Resolutions for Infrastructure Acceptance on Subdivisions: 

i. Mclaughlin Williamsburg Estates 

ii. Williamsburg Mclaughlin Estates 

iii. Sterling Ridge Phase IV, V, VI  

V. New Business- Shelly Johnstone, AICP 

A. Consideration of APC Rentals Minor Subdivision Final Plat 

B. Consideration of APC Rentals Site and Design Review 

C. Consideration of Maple Woods Village Phase I, Major Subdivision Preliminary Plat 
 

VI. Miscellaneous Items from the Planning Commission 

 

VII. Citizen Concerns.  

 

VIII. Adjourn 

   

 

 

 

 



 

 

 
Municipal-Regional Planning Commission 

 

Public Hearing -Minutes 
 

Atoka Town Hall         Thursday May 13, 2021 

334 Atoka-Munford Avenue       6:15pm  

 

The Atoka Municipal/Reginal Planning Commission held a Public Hearing regarding amendments to the Atoka Municipal Subdivision 

Regulations.  

 

Chair Shopher opened the Public Hearing at 6:15pm. He acknowledged there was no quorum for the Public Hearing and closed the 

Public Hearing at 6:17pm.  

Meeting - Minutes 

The Atoka Municipal/Regional Planning Commission met with the following members present: 

 

Keith Moore (6:50pm)  Michael Smith    Jonathan Fortenberry (6:35pm) 

John Harber   Stephen Shopher      

 

Absent:  Brett Giannini     Vicki Shipley 

Also attending:  

  

Shelly Johnstone, AICP, Town Planner        Rex Wallace, Director 

Amanda Faurbo, Assistant to the Town Administrator  Marc Woerner, Town Administrator  

Wayne Bouler, Munford Development    Kasey Culbreath, Town Attorney  

Ben Ledsinger, Town Engineer 

*Attached Sign In sheet  

 

Planning Commission Meeting was called to order at 6:35 pm. 

 

Chair Shopher established a quorum. Then advised that he would like to move Deer Ridge II Acceptance Discussion up on the 

agenda. He requested a twenty (20) minute recess to take an opportunity to go on site and look at subdivision so the Commission 

could make an informed decision on it. Commissioner Harber stated that there was no need in recessing based on a letter. No 

motion was made to recess.   

  
OLD BUSINESS 

 

1. Consideration of Amendments to the Atoka Subdivision Regulations –There was no quorum for the public hearing, so 

the discussion was moved to the June Planning Commission Meeting.  

  

Previous Minutes April 15, 2021 –Commissioner Harber made a motion to approve the April 15, 2021, minutes. 

Commissioner Smith seconded. All Approved. Motion Carried.  

REPORTS 

 

         Code Enforcement Monthly Activity Report – Rex Wallace, Director reviewed as presented. 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 



NEW BUSINESS –  

 

1. Consideration of Tri-Star Nutrition’s request for placement of a mobile food truck on a lot in Atoka- Shelly, AICP, 

Town planner presented. She advised the business had taken care of all the concerns that the commission had 

addressed in a previous meeting. One of the concerns for the Town was the sale’s tax. Shelly stated that through the 

tax identification process, the business would identify the lot location and address for the Town to receive the sale’s 

tax. Mindy Ledford and Jennifer Turnage answered questions from the commission. Commissioner Fortenberry made a 

motion for Ms. Shelly to move forward with in house staff to work with Tri-Star Nutrition for the design review. 

Commissioner Smith seconded. All Approved. Motion Carried.  

2. Deer Ridge Acceptance Discussion- Marc Woerner, Town Administrator advised that we could get into a discussion 

about the acceptance of Deer ridge II. He stated that he and the developer have conducted two conversations 

regarding the issues at hand. He proceeded to read an email from Ben Ledsinger, SSR with the outline of the 

development. Mr. Woerner added the status to date. Mr. Bouler gave some viable history on why the Town started 

paving the final layer of asphalt. Commissioner Moore made a motion that the Commission recommends approval to 

the Mayor and Board of Alderman the subdivision be approved and accepted contingent upon the base layer areas that 

have been identified be addressed and fixed to town staff’s liking. Commissioner Smith seconded. All approved. Motion 

carried. 

3. MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS FOR THE PLANNING COMMISSION – Shelly, AICP Town planner advised the commission that 

the Town attorney and herself will be meeting with another municipality to discuss surety instruments.  

 

Commissioner Harber addressed the commission and stated that he would like to talk about Shepard’s Ridge. This 

board already approved the preliminary plat for Shepard’s Ridge. This is all about Wayne tonight. He told me that after 

he had the subdivision engineered and paid them lots of money to have it engineered, our engineers came back and 

asked him to change a standard road to a minor collector road. That change is not an easy change, but it is going to 

dramatically change ethe plan significantly in terms of sewer, water, drainage, lots. He asked Mr Wayne if he would like 

to speak. Mr Wayne stated to Marc that he appreciates that Marc is taking the bull by the horns and acknowledged 

that the developers are not easy to deal with. He stated that he has a preliminary plat approval with no minor collector 

but now we are asking for a minor collector. He stated he is not willing to do that. Harber asked exactly what the 

regulations say about minor collector roads. Ben elaborated on the details. If it has the potential to serve 200 residents 

a minor collector is required. Mr Woerner advised the commission that there is a waiver provision in the subdivision 

regulations. Commissioner Harber advised that since the lots are way off the 200 marks, he did not see a reason for a 

waiver. Chair Shopher stated that in a meeting in the previous year it was stated that the long-term goal is to connect 

all the subdivision together from 206 to Tracy in an open meeting. Commissioner Harber asked what the board can do 

tonight so that Mr Bouler can move forward. Ben advised that it is his job to point out the requirements in the 

subdivision regulations, and it is the commissions job to decide whether or not they have to follow them. 

Commissioner Moore and Commissioner Smith stated that they are for a waiver from Mr. Bouler to ask to deviate from 

the regulations. Commissioner Harber advised that the final doesn’t come back to the commission. Mr Woerner 

verified that the final does in fact back before the commission. Mr. Woerner walked the commission through the 

process for development: Preliminary review, Construction and Final plat. Harber stated that this board could make a 

motion that this phase of the development be exempt from the regulations. Mr Woerner advised that the Shepard’s 

Ridge plat is not on the agenda.  

 

Chair Shopher asked the commission their opinion on June’s meeting date and time. Consensus was June 24, 2021 @ 

5:00pm for Public Hearing and 5:15pm for the regular meeting.  

 

CITIZEN CONCERNS–  

 

ADJOURNMENT   

 

Commissioner Smith made a motion to adjourn. Commissioner Shopher seconded. All approved. 

 

Meeting adjourned at 8:04pm. 
 

 

 

                          _______________________________             ____________________________ 

                        Stephen Shopher, Chair                                             Vicki Shipley, Secretary                              



C
o

d
e

 E
n

fo
rc

e
m

e
n

t 
M

o
n

th
ly

 R
e

p
o

rt
 

Fi
sc

a
l Y

e
a

r 
2

0
2

1
 

P
E

R
M

IT
 I

N
F

O
R

M
A

T
IO

N
JU

L
A

U
G

S
E

P
T

O
C

T
N

O
V

D
E

C
JA

N
F

E
B

M
A

R
A

P
R

M
A

Y
JU

N
E

T
O

T
A

L

B
u

ild
in

g
 P

e
rm

it
 -

 C
o

m
m

e
rc

ia
l

1
1

2

B
u

ild
in

g
 P

e
rm

it
 -

 I
n

d
u

st
ri

a
l

0

B
u

ild
in

g
 P

e
rm

it
 -

 R
e

si
d

e
n

ti
a

l -
 A

d
d

it
io

n
1

2
2

2
7

B
u

ild
in

g
 P

e
rm

it
 -

 R
e

si
d

e
n

ti
a

l -
 N

e
w

 B
u

ild
1

4
1

1
1

3
6

6
1

0
1

2
3

1
2

3
2

5
1

2
4

B
u

ild
in

g
 P

e
rm

it
 -

 R
e

si
d

e
n

ti
a

l -
 U

p
st

a
ir

s 
Fi

n
is

h
1

3
2

1
2

2
1

1

M
is

c 
P

e
rm

it
 -

 D
e

ta
ch

e
d

 G
a

ra
g

e
1

1

M
is

c 
P

e
rm

it
 -

 F
e

n
ce

1
1

2
4

M
is

c 
P

e
rm

it
 -

 F
ir

e
w

o
rk

s 
St

a
n

d
1

1
1

3

M
is

c 
P

e
rm

it
 -

 P
o

o
l P

e
rm

it
5

1
1

2
1

1
1

1
1

2
3

M
is

c 
P

e
rm

it
 -

 S
ig

n
 P

e
rm

it
1

1
1

1
1

5

M
is

c 
P

e
rm

it
 -

 S
to

ra
g

e
 S

h
e

d
3

4
2

4
7

2
1

3
2

6

T
O

T
A

L 
P

E
R

M
IT

 I
N

F
O

R
M

A
T

IO
N

2
4

1
7

2
9

1
5

2
0

1
6

1
6

6
1

4
4

0
9

0
2

0
6

C
E

R
T

IF
IC

A
T

E
 O

F
 O

C
C

U
P

A
N

C
Y

JU
L

A
U

G
S

E
P

T
O

C
T

N
O

V
D

E
C

JA
N

F
E

B
M

A
R

A
P

R
M

A
Y

JU
N

E
T

O
T

A
L

C
e

rt
if

ic
a

te
 o

f 
O

cc
u

p
a

n
cy

 -
 C

o
m

m
e

rc
ia

l
1

1

C
e

rt
if

ic
a

te
 o

f 
O

cc
u

p
a

n
cy

 -
 I

n
d

u
st

ri
a

l
0

C
e

rt
if

ic
a

te
 o

f 
O

cc
u

p
a

n
cy

 -
 R

e
si

d
e

n
ti

a
l

7
4

1
7

7
2

7
4

5
1

5
7

1
3

8
8

T
O

T
A

L 
C

E
R

T
IF

IC
A

T
E

 O
F

 O
C

C
U

P
A

N
C

IE
S

7
4

1
7

7
2

7
4

6
1

5
7

1
3

0
8

9

B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 I
N

S
P

E
C

T
IO

N
S

JU
L

A
U

G
S

E
P

T
O

C
T

N
O

V
D

E
C

JA
N

F
E

B
M

A
R

A
P

R
M

A
Y

JU
N

E
T

O
T

A
L

Fo
rm

 B
o

a
rd

 /
 S

e
t 

B
a

ck
 I

n
sp

e
ct

io
n

1
1

3
1

5
9

3
4

4
3

6
4

6
2

Fo
o

ti
n

g
 I

n
sp

e
ct

io
n

0

P
lu

m
b

in
g

 I
n

sp
e

ct
io

n
 

3
1

1
1

6
7

1
2

9
1

5
2

7
2

3
1

1
4

Sh
e

e
ti

n
g

 I
n

sp
e

ct
io

n
7

5
1

2
1

0
9

9
1

1
3

4
6

2
7

1
0

3

B
ri

ck
 T

ie
s 

In
sp

e
ct

io
n

7
6

1
2

7
6

1
0

1
0

5
5

5
1

0
8

3

Fr
a

m
in

g
 I

n
sp

e
ct

io
n

8
5

1
0

8
6

2
1

1
6

8
1

3
1

1
5

1
1

1

In
su

la
ti

o
n

 I
n

sp
e

ct
io

n
7

2
1

0
4

6
1

0
1

2
1

2
1

1
1

0
3

8
7

T
O

T
A

L 
B

U
IL

D
LI

N
G

 I
N

S
P

E
C

T
IO

N
S

4
0

2
4

7
0

5
4

3
7

6
6

5
8

3
3

4
1

6
5

7
2

0
5

6
0

C
O

D
E

 E
N

F
O

R
C

E
M

E
N

T
 A

C
T

IO
N

S
JU

L
A

U
G

S
E

P
T

O
C

T
N

O
V

D
E

C
JA

N
F

E
B

M
A

R
A

P
R

M
A

Y
JU

N
E

T
O

T
A

L

M
u

n
ic

ip
a

l C
o

u
rt

 C
it

a
ti

o
n

s
0

P
ro

p
e

rt
y 

M
a

in
te

n
a

n
ce

 C
o

m
p

la
in

ts
 -

 C
lo

se
d

3
7

3
9

1
7

2
1

2
4

1
2

1
6

1
3

2
1

3
4

1
5

2
4

9

P
ro

p
e

rt
y 

M
a

in
te

n
a

n
ce

 C
o

m
p

la
in

ts
 -

 R
e

ce
iv

e
d

5
6

9
1

4
7

3
6

2
0

1
3

2
1

1
5

3
3

4
6

3
5

4
1

3

T
O

T
A

L 
C

O
D

E
 E

N
F

O
R

C
E

M
E

N
T

 A
C

T
IO

N
S

9
3

1
3

0
6

4
5

7
4

4
2

5
3

7
2

8
5

4
8

0
5

0
0

6
6

2

P
E

R
M

IT
 F

E
E

S
JU

L
A

U
G

S
E

P
T

O
C

T
N

O
V

D
E

C
JA

N
F

E
B

M
A

R
A

P
R

M
A

Y
JU

N
E

T
O

T
A

L

C
o

lle
ct

e
d

 F
e

e
s

$
8

,3
5

5
$

6
,7

5
8

$
9

,0
3

5
$

4
,5

2
0

$
4

,3
3

4
$

5
,6

8
0

$
6

,6
9

8
$

1
,7

9
0

$
6

,1
6

9
$

1
5

,0
5

8
$

2
,5

2
5

$
7

0
,9

2
2

T
O

T
A

L 
P

E
R

M
IT

 F
E

E
S

$
8

,3
5

5
$

6
,7

5
8

$
9

,0
3

5
$

4
,5

2
0

$
4

,3
3

4
$

5
,6

8
0

$
6

,6
9

8
$

1
,7

9
0

$
6

,1
6

9
$

1
5

,0
5

8
$

2
,5

2
5

$
0

$
7

0
,9

2
2

C
O

M
M

E
N

T
S

R
E

 I
N

SP
E

C
T

IO
N

 T
O

T
A

LS
 1

5
 C

O
LL

E
C

T
E

D
 3

7
5

.0
0



RESOLUTION   _________ 

 

A RESOLUTION TO AMEND THE ATOKA MUNICIPAL SUBDIVISION 

REGULATIONS 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated Sections 13-4-303 and 13-3-403 

subdivision regulations have been adopted for the Town of Atoka and the designated 

Atoka Planning Region: and, 

 

WHEREAS, the Atoka Municipal-Regional Planning Commission has seen fit to 

amend the Subdivision Regulations; and, 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated a public hearing was held before 

this body on Thursday, the 13th day of May, 2021 pursuant to a notice published in a 

newspaper of general circulation at least 15 days in advance of the hearing; 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE ATOKA MUNICIPAL-

REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION OF THE TOWN OF ATOKA, 

TENNESSEE: 

 

1. Article 1. Section G. Conformance to applicable Rules and Regulations: 

Omit: “Planning Commission”  

Add:  “Town of Atoka” 

 

6. The standards and regulations adopted by all other boards, commissions, and 

agencies of the Town of Atoka, where applicable. 

2. Article 2. Section A. General. 3. D. Required Submission: 

Add: “public utilities director” to the staff subdivision review team. 

 

(1) The subdivision review staff should include, at a minimum, the town engineer, 

and the town planning staff. Other department officials or town officials that 

should be involved in the review of major subdivisions are the building 

inspector, the public utilities director, the fire chief and the police chief. 

3. Article 2. Section B. Preliminary Plat. 2.Plat Content. c., E.2 and Article 3. 

Section C. Plat Content. 1. 

 

Add: “Common Open Space” to lots that need to be identified on the Preliminary 

Plat, and Final Plat submissions. 

4. Article 2. Section C. Construction Plans.  

 

Add the following: 

6. Performance Agreement Required   

 

a. Procedure After the Preliminary Plat or Final Plat is approved by the 

Planning Commission, and the construction drawings have been determined 

to be substantially correct and substantially complete, the developer and 



owner, if applicable, must enter into a development agreement with the 

Town of Atoka. 

 

(1) A draft performance agreement shall be prepared by the Town of Atoka. 

The draft agreement shall reference the design incorporated within the 

proposed subdivision infrastructure construction plans, landscape plans, 

or other plans for improvements to proposed common areas (e.g. entry 

features, cluster mailbox areas, detention pond areas, parks, etc.) which 

have been reviewed by the Town staff (and the Planning Commission if 

so required) and shall be sufficient in form to assure the proposed 

construction methods and materials meet or exceed minimum standards 

established by the Town.  

 

(2) The performance agreement shall reference approved construction 

drawings and plans, and work may begin following the utility 

coordination and pre-construction meetings. The performance agreement 

may also include provisions relevant to any required private 

improvements given consideration as part of the approval of the 

subdivision and/or common open space, including such surety as may be 

required to guarantee such improvements are installed accordingly.  

 

(3) The performance agreement shall outline improvements that are the 

responsibility of the developer and those that are deferred to the builder 

to complete (sidewalks, lot trees, street trees, landscaping, entry features, 

landscaping, lights, signage, etc.). Builders will be required to complete 

the improvements before building permits are issued or guarantee the 

improvements by posting a surety with the Town. Certificates of 

Occupancy will not be issued until said improvements are completed, 

inspected, and approved by the Town of Atoka. 

 

7.  Infrastructure Coordination Meeting Requirement  

 

a. Before utilities are planned for installation, a utility coordination meeting of 

all utility providers, the Public Works Director, and the Town Engineer, shall 

be held. This is to ensure that utility installation is coordinated, in keeping 

with the technical specifications of the utility companies and the Town. 

 

b. Prior to installation of utilities, a pre-construction conference shall be held at 

the development site. Representatives of the utility companies and the Town 

of Atoka (at a minimum the Public Works Director) shall be present at the 

conference. 

5. Article 2. Section E. Final Plat.2. Plat Content. h. (1),  

Add the following: 

 

“and/or any other applicable utility responsible for the maintenance of that utility.” 

6. Article 4. A. Lot Layout 



Omit the following language: 

 

“In general, all lots in a subdivision shall have about the same area.” 

7.  Article 4. Section C. 5. Design Criteria 

Add the following: 

 Design Criteria - An interconnected street system is necessary to protect the public 

health, safety, and welfare and to ensure that streets will function in an 

interdependent manner, to provide adequate access for emergency and service 

vehicles, to connect neighborhoods, to promote walking and biking, to reduce miles 

of travel that result in lower air emissions and wear on the roadway, and to provide 

continuous and comprehensible traffic routes. 

 

e. 

f. Each development shall incorporate and continue all collector or local streets 

stubbed to the boundaries of previously approved but unbuilt development or 

existing development.  

g. To ensure future street connections where a proposed development abuts 

unplatted land or a future development phase of the same development, street 

stubs shall be provided to provide access to all abutting properties or to logically 

extend the street system into the surrounding area. All street stubs over 500’ in 

length shall be provided with temporary turn-around or cul-de-sacs, and the 

restoration and extension of the street shall be the responsibility of any future 

developer of the abutting land.  

h. Permanent dead-end streets (those that are not intended to connect with future 

streets on abutting land) are not permitted. However, an applicant may apply for, 

and the Planning Commission may grant, a waiver of this prohibition if, in the 

opinion of the Planning Commission, it is in the public interest and the developer 

has adequately addressed the need for the permanent dead-end street. Any 

development with a Preliminary Plat approved prior to the adoption of this 

section is not subject to the provisions of this section. 

 

(1) Developer requesting permission to provide a permanent dead-end street 

(including a cul-de-sac) should provide the Planning Commission with 

evidence that it is required based upon the following planning goals: 

• Preservation and/or enhancement of vistas, scenic or historic 

environs, vegetation and trees, and topographical features on the 

subject parcel or abutting parcels.  

• Prevention or reduction of environmental impacts, including impacts 

to wetlands.  

• Where a permanent dead-end street is permitted, a cul-de- sac 

turnabout shall be provided at the end in accordance with the design 

standards of these regulations. For greater convenience to traffic and 

more effective police and fire protection, permanent dead-end roads 

and streets shall, in general shall be limited in length to 500 feet. 



• Permitted permanent dead-end streets shall have a pedestrian 

connection from the end of the cul-de-sac to another street if 

feasible.  

 

8.  Article 4. Section C. 6. Topography and Arrangement. e. 

Omit the following language: 

 

 “the use of curvilinear, cul-de-sac, or “U” shaped streets shall be encouraged where 

such use would result in a more desirable layout”. 

9. Article 4. C. 9. Street Construction and Width 

Omit the following:   

“All subdivisions of three (3) or more, including the parent tract in Residential 

Districts, shall require the subdivider/developer to improve the existing road 

adjoining said developments.” 

“When a subdivision is on only one side of an existing street, the side of the street 

abutting the subdivision shall be improved” 

 

Add the following:  

“The subdivider/developer shall improve the adjoining roadway the entire length of 

the development or pay an “in lieu” fee to the Town for future road improvements. 

The Town Engineer shall determine the improvements to be made or the “in lieu” 

fee.” 

10. Article 4 C. 9. d. Pavement Base Course.  

Arterials and Collector Streets: 

Omit the following:  

“After preparation of the subgrade, the roadbed shall be surfaced with 11 inches of 

Mineral Aggregate Base (Limestone) or 8 inches Aggregate Cement Base 

compacted to minimum 95% Standard Proctor and conforming to the Technical 

Specifications of the Town of Atoka.” 

 

Add the following: 

” After preparations of the subgrade, the roadbed shall be surfaced with the 

following: Surface = 1.25” of PG64-22 “D” Binder = 2” of PG64-22 “B-M2” 

Binder = 3” of PG64-22 “A” 

Base = 8” of 303-02, Mineral Aggregate, Type B Base” 

Other Public Streets: 

 

Omit the following:  

“After preparation of the subgrade, the roadbed shall be surfaced with 8 inches of 

Mineral Aggregate Base (Limestone) or 6 inches Aggregate Cement Base Class A 

Aggregate, Grading D as defined for a Type A Base over the pavement compacted to 

a minimum of 95% Standard Proctor and conforming to the Technical Specifications 

of the Town of Atoka.” 

 

Add the following:   



“After preparation of the subgrade, the roadbed shall be surfaced with the following: 

Surface = 1.25” of PG64-22 “D” Binder = 2” of PG64-22 “B-M2” 

Base = 12” of 303-02, Mineral Aggregate, Type B Base” 

11. Article 4. C. 10. d. Number of Access Points   

Omit the following: 

 “d.  Number of Access Points:  Residential developments with more than 50 lots or 

dwelling units shall have at least two separate points of public road access. 

Developments with more than 200 lots or dwelling units shall have at least three 

points of public access.”  

Add the following: 

 “d. Number of Access Points -. The Town Engineer shall make the determination that 

proposed external points of access are of a sufficient design, location and number to 

enable safe and convenient servicing by police, fire and other emergency vehicles 

into the proposed development, and to enable adequate traffic flow to and from the 

development.”  

12. Article 4 C. 21.b. Dead-end Roads and Streets 

 Omit: “1,200” (in general shall be limited in length to 1,200 feet.) 

 Add: “500” (in general shall be limited in length to 500 feet.) 

13. Article 4. D. Storm Drainage 

Add the following:   

“The Town of Atoka shall specify rainfall data (based on NOAA Atlas 14 

precipitation data). All drainage structures to be maintained by the Town shall be 

reinforced concrete pipe, and detention pond outlet structures designed in accordance 

with these regulations.” 

14. Article 4. F. 1.  Water Supply System 

Add the following:  

“g.  No water lines smaller than 6” are to be installed and no valves are to be installed 

in a roadway. Valves are to be installed at each intersection to isolate sections of 

main (water and sewer), a 12-gauge tracer wire is to be installed with all nonmetallic 

pipe laid (water and sewer), a 12-gauge tracer wire is to be brought up outside valve 

boxes and looped over into the box, and water valves are to be installed on all fire 

hydrants. Mueller water valves are to be used on all new water main installations.” 

 

15. Article 4. F. 3. b. Public Wastewater System 

Add the following:  

“(9) E-one stainless steel check valves are to be installed on all sewer services (Part 

Number NB0184PXX). Only pumps approved by the Town of Atoka are to be used 

in installations that require pumps.  Only concrete tanks are to be installed at 

houses.” 

16. Article 4. J. Sidewalks and Handicap Ramps 

Omit the following:  

“Effective August 18, 2011,” 

“shall have .25 inch per foot slope towards the adjacent street” 

“a. Single family residential    4 feet wide” 

 

Add the following to 1. Sidewalks:   



“adjoining all lots including Common Open Space lots” 

 “shall adhere to the Tennessee Department of Transportation’s sidewalk slope 

requirements.” 

“a. Single family residential   5 feet wide” 

17. Article 6 B. 2. Enforcement of Surety Instrument, F. Inspection of 

Improvements 

Omit: “may” 

Add: “shall” 

 

18.  Atoka Municipal Subdivision Regulations:  

Omit the following where applicable: 

“Tipton County Health Department” 

Add the following where applicable: 

“Tennessee Department of Environment and Conservation” 

(for any reference to approval of an individual subsurface wastes disposal system or 

water system.) 

 

SECTION 2 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall become 

effective immediately upon its passage, THE PUBLIC WELFARE REQUIRING IT. 

 

 

Date: ________________________ 

 

                                                          _____________________ 

Chairman, Atoka Municipal-  Secretary, Atoka Municipal- 

Regional Planning Commission Regional Planning Commission  

       

 

 







 

 

 2021 

Exhibit  
RESOLUTION NO.    

 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ACCEPTING THE STREETS IN THE 

MCLAUGHLIN WILLIAMSBURG SUBDIVISION IN THE TOWN OF ATOKA AS 

ROADS FOR PUBLIC MAINTENANCE. 
 

WHEREAS, PFMT Holdings. has constructed various streets in rights-of-way dedicated 

and recorded to the Town of Atoka; and 

 
WHEREAS, Article 6 of the Atoka Municipal Subdivision Regulations require that the 

Board of Mayor and Aldermen act in the form of a resolution to accept infrastructure constructed 

by a developer and dedicated to the Town for public use; and 

 
WHEREAS,  the Town of Atoka Municipal/Regional Planning Commission 

recommended acceptance of Mclaughlin Williamsburg infrastructure. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF MAYOR AND 

ALDERMEN OF THE TOWN OF ATOKA, TENNESSEE as follows: 
 

SECTION 1.  The Board of Mayor and Aldermen of the Town of Atoka, Tennessee approves 

and accepts the currently constructed portions of Beverly Drive in the Mclaug h l in  

Wi l l i amsburg  Subdivision for public maintenance and releases PFMT Holdings for all 

future responsibility related to said roadways. 

 

SECTION 2. This Resolution takes effect immediately upon conditions being met and 

approved as outlined in Section 1, the public welfare requiring it. 
 

PASSED by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen of the Town of Atoka, Tennessee this __  
day of __2021. 

 

 
 
 
 

 

ATTEST:

 

 

Mayor
 
 
 
 
 

Town Recorder 





 

 

 2021 

Exhibit  
RESOLUTION NO.    

 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ACCEPTING THE STREETS IN THE 

WILLIAMSBURG MCLAUGHLIN SUBDIVISION IN THE TOWN OF ATOKA AS 

ROADS FOR PUBLIC MAINTENANCE. 
 

WHEREAS, PFMT Holdings. has constructed various streets in rights-of-way dedicated 

and recorded to the Town of Atoka; and 

 
WHEREAS, Article 6 of the Atoka Municipal Subdivision Regulations require that the 

Board of Mayor and Aldermen act in the form of a resolution to accept infrastructure constructed 

by a developer and dedicated to the Town for public use; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town of Atoka Municipal/Regional Planning Commission 

recommended acceptance of Mclaughlin Williamsburg infrastructure. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF MAYOR AND 

ALDERMEN OF THE TOWN OF ATOKA, TENNESSEE as follows: 
 

SECTION 1.  The Board of Mayor and Aldermen of the Town of Atoka, Tennessee approves 

and accepts the currently constructed portions of Ellen Drive in the Wi l l i a msburg  Mcl augh l in  

Subdivision for public maintenance and releases PFMT Holdings for all future responsibility 

related to said roadways. 

 

SECTION 2. This Resolution takes effect immediately upon conditions being met and 

approved as outlined in Section 1, the public welfare requiring it. 
 

PASSED by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen of the Town of Atoka, Tennessee this __  
day of __2021. 

 

 
 
 
 

 

ATTEST:

 

 

Mayor
 
 
 
 
 

Town Recorder 





 

 

 2021 

Exhibit  
RESOLUTION NO.    

 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ACCEPTING THE STREETS IN THE STERLING 

RIDGE IV,V, AND VI(4,5,6) SUBDIVISION IN THE TOWN OF ATOKA AS ROADS FOR 

PUBLIC MAINTENANCE. 
 

WHEREAS, PFMT Holdings. has constructed various streets in rights-of-way dedicated 

and recorded to the Town of Atoka; and 

 
WHEREAS, Article 6 of the Atoka Municipal Subdivision Regulations require that the 

Board of Mayor and Aldermen act in the form of a resolution to accept infrastructure constructed 

by a developer and dedicated to the Town for public use; and 

 
WHEREAS,  the Town of Atoka Municipal/Regional Planning Commission 

recommended acceptance of Sterling Ridge IV,V,VI (4,5,6) infrastructure. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF MAYOR AND 

ALDERMEN OF THE TOWN OF ATOKA, TENNESSEE as follows: 
 

SECTION 1.  The Board of Mayor and Aldermen of the Town of Atoka, Tennessee approves 

and accepts the currently constructed portions of Ridge Top Lane, Eureka Trail and Switchback Lane  

in the S t e r l i ng  R idge  IV  (4 )  Subdivision for public maintenance and releases PFMT 

Holdings for all future responsibility related to said roadways. 

SECTION 2. The Board of Mayor and Aldermen of the Town of Atoka, Tennessee approves 

and accepts the currently constructed portions of Switchback Lane and Minors Cove in the 

S t e r l i ng  R idge  V  ( 5 )  Subdivision for public maintenance and releases PFMT Holdings 

for all future responsibility related to said roadways. 

SECTION 3. The Board of Mayor and Aldermen of the Town of Atoka, Tennessee approves 

and accepts the currently constructed portions of Nugget Lane in the S t e r l i ng  R idge  V I  (6 )  

Subdivision for public maintenance and releases PFMT Holdings for all future responsibility 

related to said roadways. 

 

SECTION 4. This Resolution takes effect immediately upon conditions being met and 

approved as outlined in Section 1, the public welfare requiring it. 
 

PASSED by the Board of Mayor and Aldermen of the Town of Atoka, Tennessee this __  
day of __2021. 

 

 
 
 
 

 

ATTEST:

 

 

Mayor
 
 
 
 
 

Town Recorder 



















Johnstone & Associates 
Michele Johnstone, AICP 
3469 Countrywood Road 

Belden, MS 38826 
662.419.0161 

Sjohnstone73@icloud.com 
 
MEMORANDUM 
TO: Atoka Planning Commission 
RE: APC Rentals Re-Subdivision Plat Staff Report 
FROM:  Shelly Johnstone, AICP 
DATE: June 17, 2021 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Regulating Language 
 
Minor Subdivision Plat Approval 
Whenever a proposed subdivision containing less than 5 lots fronting on an existing public way; 
not involving any new or improved public way, the extension of public facilities or the creation 
of any public improvements, and not in conflict with any provision of the adopted general plan, 
major road plan, zoning ordinance, or these regulations, this procedure for review and approval 
of the subdivision may apply.  
 
Whenever a parcel of land is subdivided more than once every two years into a total of three (3) 
lots or more, the Planning Commission shall require the subdivision to comply with the  
vi  

1. The subdivider/developer may, if he desires, submit only a Final Plat in securing plat 
approval, provided that the plat submitted complies with all the requirements of the Final 
Plat. However, if any corrections or modifications are needed, the Planning Commission 
shall disapprove the plat and require it to be re-submitted for approval.  

2. The procedure for review and approval of a minor subdivision and its documentation 
shall consist of 1 step. This step is the submission and action on a Final Plat. The 
preparation of a Final Plat is mandatory for all minor subdivision proposals. The Final 
Plat provides information relative to the calls and bearings for lot lines and has all 
necessary certificates of approval from various town and county offices to ensure 
protection of future owners of the property. The Final Plat, once approved by the 
Planning Commission and signed by the secretary, becomes the instrument to be 
recorded by the office of the County Registrar, subsequently allowing for the sale of the 
lots.  

3. The Final Plat is the culmination of the land subdivision process. When approved and 
duly recorded as provided by law, the Final Plat becomes a permanent public record of 
the survey of the lots or parcels, rights-of-way, easements and public lands, and the 
restrictive covenants as may be applicable to the lots or parcels within the boundary of 
the subdivision. As such, it serves as a vital instrument in the sale and transfer of real 
estate, in the dedication of rights-of-way easements, and public lands, and in future land 
survey of the properties contained in or adjoining the subdivision.  



4. Whenever subdivision meets the criteria described below, the Secretary of the Atoka 
Municipal-Regional Planning Commission may approve a subdivided plat without the  
Procedure for Minor Subdivision Approval  

 
a. The divided tract involves no more than two (2) lots;  
approval of the planning commission.  
b. The planning staff of the planning commission certifies that the subdivision 
meets all the regulations adopted by the planning commission, and;  
c. No request for variance from the adopted regulations of the planning 
commission has been made.  
d. Re-subdivision involving no more than 2(two) lots or establishing new or 
additional utility easements.  viii  
 

NON-RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISIONS 
1. General - If a proposed subdivision includes land which is zoned for a commercial or 

industrial purpose, the layout of the subdivision with respect to such land shall make 
such provisions as the Planning Commission may require. A nonresidential subdivision 
also shall be subject to all the requirements of site plan approval as set forth in the 
Atoka Municipal Zoning Ordinance. Site plan approval may proceed simultaneously at 
the discretion of the Planning Commission. A nonresidential subdivision shall be subject 
to all the requirements of these regulations, as well as such additional standards set 
forth by the Planning Commission, and shall conform to the Land Development Plan, 
major road plan, and zoning ordinance. 

2. Standards - In addition to the principles and standards in the regulations, which are 
appropriate to the planning of all subdivisions, the subdivider/developer shall 
demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Planning Commission that the public way, parcel, 
and block pattern proposed is specifically adapted to the uses anticipated and takes into 
account other uses in the vicinity. The following principles and standards shall be 
observed: 
a. Proposed industrial parcels shall be suitable in areas and dimensions to the types of 

nonresidential development anticipated. 
b. Public way rights-of-way and pavements shall be adequate to accommodate the type 

and volume of traffic anticipated. 
c. Special requirements may be imposed by the governing body with respect to any 

public way, curb, gutter, and sidewalk design and construction specifications. 
d. Special requirements may be imposed by the governing body with respect to the 

installation of public utilities, including water, sewer, and stormwater drainage. 
e. Every effort shall be made to protect adjacent residential areas from potential 

nuisance from the proposed nonresidential subdivision, including the provision of 
extra depth in parcels backing on existing or potential residential development and 
provisions for permanently landscaped buffer strips, when necessary. 

f. Roads and streets carrying nonresidential traffic, especially trucks, normally shall 
not be extended to the boundaries of adjacent existing or potential residential areas. 

 
 



Subdivisions in all commercial or industrial districts shall require the subdivider/developer to 
improve the existing road adjoining said development. 
 
1. Fire Protection - Fire hydrants shall be required for all subdivisions, minor or major. 
They shall be located no more than 500 feet apart and shall be within 250 feet of any residential, 
commercial, or industrial lot. However, the Planning Commission may require closer spacing 
where physical conditions or types of structures warrant it. 
 
General Information 
This plat revision consists of a minor line change between two existing lots of record and a re-
subdivision of Lot 3, McLaughlin Commercial Center. Lot line revisions in the APC Rentals and 
Loch Meade HOA lots of record are being handled by quit claims.  
 
Public Improvements  
The owner of APC Rentals lot is planning to construct an RV Storage facility on the lot. As per 
the Zoning Ordinance in the Town of Atoka, the applicant my bring a subdivision request and 
site plan at the same time (for an actual project). The proposed improvements to Highway 206 
(Atoka-Idaville Road) and erosion control/drainage improvements will be handled in the Site and 
Design Review phase.  
 
Site and Design Review 
The Site and Design Review Plan for the RV Storage facility and grounds are noted in an 
additional Staff Report and is a separate item on the June, 2021 Planning Commission Meeting 
agenda. 
 
Attachment: 
McLaughlin Commercial Center, Lot 3 Re-subdivision 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Sources: Esri, HERE, Garmin, USGS, Intermap, INCREMENT P, NRCan, Esri Japan, METI, Esri
China (Hong Kong), Esri Korea, Esri (Thailand), NGCC, (c) OpenStreetMap contributors, and the
GIS User Community

APC Rentals

TIPTON COUNTY, TENNESSEE
DISCLAIMER: THIS MAP IS FOR PROPERTY TAX ASSESSMENT PURPOSES ONLY. IT WAS CONSTRUCTED FROM PROPERTY INFORMATION 
RECORDED IN THE OFFICE OF THE REGISTER OF DEEDS AND IS NOT CONCLUSIVE AS TO LOCATION OF PROPERTY OR LEGAL OWNERSHIP.

MAP DATE: May 7, 2021

8
0 750 1,500

Feet





 
Johnstone & Associates 

Michele Johnstone, AICP 
3469 Countrywood Road 

Belden, MS 38826 
662.419.0161 

Sjohnstone73@icloud.com 
 
MEMORANDUM 
TO: Atoka Planning Commission 
RE: APC Site and Design Review Staff Report 
FROM:  Shelly Johnstone, AICP 
DATE: June 16, 2021 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
Regulating Language 
Atoka Zoning Ordinance 
 
3.15.1.2 The review and approval of a site plan for any Permitted Use by the Atoka 
Municipal / Regional Planning Commission is required by this ordinance. The Planning 
Commission may require such changes in the presented site plan as may be necessary to 
minimize the impact of the requested use upon the town. This power of review may include, but 
not be limited to, setbacks, screening, lighting, parking location, layouts, access and general 
landscaping requirements. This power of review shall not include the authority to specify or alter 
the architectural style of proposed or existing buildings. 
 
3.15.2 Design Standards for Multi-Family, General Commercial, Neighborhood Commercial 
xvii and Industrial Districts xviii, xix  Such standards is (are) needed to encourage and protect 
the investment of individual property owners when their property is redeveloped and improved. 
Accordingly, any new building or redevelopment of an existing property in the district shall be 
designed and constructed to be architecturally compatible in materials, scale and massing. Such 
standards are not intended to create a monolithic architectural appearance in these districts, but 
to encourage creative and attractive building elements and finishes. 
  
3.15.2.2 Pattern book/Guidelines - In order to create a better understanding of design and site 
planning expectations for these districts, the Mayor and Board of Alderman may additionally 
adopt by resolution a set of design standards or pattern book that provides guidelines for new 
construction including architectural style, height, landscaping and open space as well as 
common elements for the district such as street lighting, sidewalks, street furniture, etc. Such 
guidelines shall be subject to review and recommendations by the planning commission prior to 
adoption. In addition, the City Administrator or his designee shall review the proposal with the 
affected property owners at a public meeting and the legislative body shall conduct a public 
hearing to receive formal comment prior to adoption of such guidelines.  
 
3.15.2.3 Applicable standards - Within the above parameters, the following design standards 
shall apply in the development and redevelopment of property in the R-3, GC, NC and M 
districts:  

1



Height - All buildings that are attached or adjacent within a block should be similar in height to 
the greatest extent feasible. The planning commission may require the upper stories of a building 
that will be taller than the average building height on a block to be recessed further back from 
the front build-to line. The above height limitations and restrictions do not prohibit the use of an 
architectural feature such as a tower, cupola, etc., located above the roof line, provided the 
feature is in character with the architecture of the building and area; the total height of the 
building and feature does not exceed thirty-five (35) feet (plus mechanical/elevator penthouse); 
and the feature is not designed or used for placement of elevated wall signs. 
  
Scale/massing - Individual buildings should use human-scaled / pedestrian oriented 
architectural features. Individual buildings should clearly articulate the first story and primary 
entrances, with display windows encouraged for retail stores. The ground floor should be clearly 
delineated from the upper stories and the upper floors from the top of the front façade roof line. 
Large blank walls in pedestrian areas greater than 35 feet in length and large monolithic box-
like structures should be avoided. Larger buildings should be designed to divide the mass of the 
facility to create a visual impression of a series of smaller buildings or sections. Windows, doors, 
shutters, columns, masonry detailing, and variations in the front roof line, building wall recesses 
and variations in colors and materials should be used to break up the mass of a single building.  
 
Exterior materials and details - High quality materials which are durable and attractive should 
be used on all buildings. 
  
All publicly visible sides of the building should have a minimum of 75 percent of the exterior 
façades (excluding windows, trim and doors) covered in brick, cast stone, cultured stone, or an 
alternative masonry material acceptable to the planning commission. Split faced block may be 
used in the true service areas in combination with the above materials if it is integrally colored, 
not stained or painted. Concrete panels, prefabricated metal panels, fluted concrete cinder 
block, cementitious sheathing materials and similar imitation masonry materials, and stucco 
finishes should be avoided as the main exterior material. 
  
In R-3 Districts, all multi-family buildings shall have a minimum of 75% of the exterior façades 
(excluding windows, trim and doors) covered in brick, cast stone, cultured stone, or an 
alternative masonry material acceptable to the planning commission.  
 
In GC, NC and M Districts, all publicly visible sides of the building shall have a minimum of 
75% of the exterior façades (excluding windows, trim and doors) covered in brick, cast stone, 
cultured stone, or an alternative masonry material acceptable to the planning commission.  
 
Window/door openings - Each floor facing a public street or park should have windows covering 
at least 15 percent of the wall area. Buildings should have clearly defined and highly visible 
customer entrances, which should be recessed or framed by a sheltering element such as an 
overhang, arcade, portico or other roof form. Individual framed windows should be provided 
instead of continuous horizontal "ribbon or band" type windows. Reflective glass, glass curtain 
walls and other continuous, floor-to-ceiling windows should also be avoided on all floors. 
Windows shall have a minimum sill height of 18 inches off of finished floor. The patterns of 

2



window openings and details of bays should be used to create a sense of scale and add visual 
interest to building facades. Wall openings should not span vertically more than one story.  
 
Awnings - The design of awnings, including the selection of material and color, should 
complement the architectural style and character of the building. Large buildings with multiple 
storefronts should have compatible, though not necessarily identical, awnings. Signage may be 
allowed on awnings so long as it meets design and signage standards of Article 3 of this 
ordinance and is approved by the planning commission. Signage on awnings shall count toward 
the total number of signs as well as the maximum sign area allowed under Article 3 of this 
ordinance. Striping may be allowed on awnings, provided there are no more than two colors, 
which should be in keeping with the overall character of the district. Awnings may not be back 
lit. Awnings should be made of fabric and may project up to three feet into the public right-of-
way with the bottom of the canopy at least nine feet above the sidewalk.  
 
Roofs - To harmonize with residential structures, it is recommended that whenever possible, R-3, 
G-C, N-C and M Districts structures should have roofs that are visible from the street. Service 
station canopies (both attached and detached) should also have pitched roofs. Roofs should 
project enough beyond the façade to cast a shadow. Roofs should be dark earth tone in color.  
Mechanical equipment should be concealed within the volume of the roof or enclosed within 
penthouse structures. In extreme cases where this is not possible, the projecting mechanical 
elements should be located so that they are not visible from public streets.  
 
Lighting – Height and Light Levels  
Pole and building mounted light fixtures shall meet the following height restrictions for 
maximum mounting height:  
Within 50 feet of a residential property or residential district – 14 feet  
50 –170 feet from residential property – 20 feet 170 feet or more from residential property – 25 
feet  
Light fixtures shall in no case be higher than 25 feet or shall not be higher than the majority of 
the building structure. 
 
Perimeter Lighting Requirements:  
Lighting levels shall be based on maintained lamp lumens. Maintenance values shall be 
identified on the lighting calculations submitted for approval.  
For lighting levels adjacent to commercial property, the lighting shall not exceed one (1) foot-
candle of illumination at the property line, and shall not exceed one-half (1/2) foot-candles 10 
feet beyond the property line.  
For lighting levels adjacent to residential property, the lighting shall not exceed one-quarter 
(0.25) foot-candle of illumination at the property line and shall not exceed one-tenth (0.1) foot-
candle 10 feet beyond the property line.  
 
Lighting Plan Requirements  
A Site Lighting Plan that is prepared by a licensed lighting design professional shall be 
submitted for all buildings 5,000 square feet or larger. The site lighting plan shall include at 
least the following:  
 

3



Prohibitions  
Recreational Facilities: No outdoor recreational facility, public or private, shall be illuminated 
by nonconforming means after 11:00 PM except to conclude any recreational or sporting event 
or other activity conducted at the facility in progress prior to 11:00 PM. 
  
Mercury Vapor: The installation of mercury vapor fixtures is prohibited.  
 
Exemptions  
The DRC may grant an exemption to the requirements of these standards only upon a written 
finding that there are conditions warranting the exemption.  
 

• Nonconforming Fixtures. Outdoor lighting fixtures installed prior to the effective date of 
this Standard are exempt from the provisions of these standards, provided, however, that 
no change in use in lighting, replacement, and structural alteration of outdoor lighting 
fixtures shall be made unless it thereafter conforms to the provisions of this Standard.  

 
• Temporary fair, carnival or civic uses 

  
Landscaping - The landscape of the City mirrors the predominant landscape of the surrounding 
region, with informal groupings of plants amidst green lawns. Landscape design should 
complement this image.  
 
Materials  
Wherever possible, healthy existing trees should be retained, as they are an amenity requiring 
many years to replace. Grading and construction should avoid disturbance of such trees.  
To provide a consistent effect in residential areas, the preferred street trees are 2 inch - 2 1⁄2 
inch caliper oak, planted on average 50 foot on center. 
  
To provide a more immediate effect in commercial areas and offset the larger scale structures, 
the preferred street trees are 3 inch - 3 1⁄2 inch caliper oak, planted no further apart than 50 feet 
on center.  
 
Evergreen species are desirable for screening views, such as views into parking or service areas.  
As an extension of the surrounding natural landscape, plant species should be native or well 
adapted to the region. 
  
Recommended shade tree species include: Willow Oak, Pin Oak, Scarlet Oak, Bald Cypress, 
Tulip Tree, Honey Locust and Red Maple. 
  
Recommended shrub species at 24 inches-36 inches height include: Wax Leaf Ligustrum, Pfitzer 
Juniper, Mugho Pine, Dwarf Japanese Holy, Dwarf Chinese Holly, Variegated Privet, 
Manhattan Euonymous and Florida Jasmine.  
 
Recommended screening plants include: Magnolia - Brackens Brown and Little Gem, Savannah 
Holly and Foster Holly.  
 

4



Recommended screening shrub species include: Wax Leaf Ligustrum, Pfitzer Juniper, Mugho 
Pine, Dwarf Japanese Holly. 
 
Dwarf Chinese Holly, Variegated Privet, Manhattan Euonymous and Florida Jasmine  
On site areas adjacent to streets, lawn areas must be established or be sodded prior to 
occupancy of the project.  
 
Maintenance and Irrigation 
All plantings must be maintained by the respective property owners.  
 
Planting plans approved by the Commission must be maintained as originally designed. Any 
diseased, dying or dead plants should be treated or removed by the property owner. Appropriate, 
durable plants should be installed.  
 
Irrigation systems must be provided to ensure robust planting areas (including within parking 
islands and medians, if applicable). 
  
To prevent accidents, irrigation systems must be installed below ground, with spray heads flush 
with the ground surface. 
  
Irrigation systems must have a reduced pressure backflow prevention (R.P.B.P.) device 
approved by the water operator in charge.  
  
Site and Design Review - APC Rentals 
 
Use:  Use of the property (outside storage of Recreational Vehicles), although not specifically 
noted in the list of uses in the General Commercial Zone, is interpreted to be permitted because 
the district also allows for the sale of vehicles and marine craft, which are traditionally stored 
and showcased outside of a traditional building. 
 
Minor Plat 
The plat was considered as a re-subdivision minor plat because there are minor lot line 
adjustments (quit claim) and a change to Lot 3 of McLaughlin Commercial Center (change in an 
existing subdivision).  
 
Design Elements Under Review  
 
Height – the height of the RV canopy meets the zoning requirements. 
 
Pedestrian scale/massing – Developers are adding a required 5’ sidewalk in front of the facility. 
The length of the front brick wall will be broken up with landscaping. 
 
Exterior materials and details – the RV Storage facility canopies will be constructed of metal 
and screened along Atoka-Idaville Road and the east side of the facility, and a smaller portion 
along the west side of the facility, with an 8’ high brick wall. The east side has more of a public 
view at this time.  The 8’ brick wall will not totally screen the stored recreational vehicles, as the 

5



space will be 16’ tall. However, Lorapetulums can grow to a height of fifteen feet which will 
eventually fill in the remainder of the canopy and RV view. The staff has requested that the  
remainder of the fencing be black wrought iron or black aluminum. The developer has requested 
a powder-coated black chain link fencing due to the lower cost. The canopy will be a low 
reflective neutral tone metal material (but not white), so as not to reflect light unnecessarily. 
 
Staff has requested that the developer use real brick as opposed to CMU (Concrete Masonry 
Unit), but if the Planning Commission approves brick size CMU, then the red color must be 
integral and not painted, and installed in a running bond. 
 
The dumping station and restroom facilities are to be faced in brick. 
 
Window/door openings – N/A 
 
Landscaping 
The portion of the facility facing Atoka-Idaville Road will be planted with a grass strip, 
Lorapetalum shrubs, and Chinese Maple trees. Lorapetalum can grow to 10-15 feet which will 
mostly screen the RV storage area in the future. The developer will sod the remainder of the lot 
and mulch the landscape beds with brown or black mulch.   
 
Lighting 
A lighting plan has been submitted that meets the requirements of the Atoka Design Standards. 
Pole lights are to be a “full cut off” fixture and canopy lights must be flush and fully shielded; no 
more than 400 watts. There is an existing monument sign structure. The developer has been 
informed that the sign must have exterior illumination, but shielded in a way as to not interfere 
with traffic or nearby residential areas. 
 
Infrastructure and Utilities 
 
The developer is improving Highway 206 (Atoka-Idaville Road) to TDOT specifications and 
posting a bond for the work with the agency. See attached permit approval letter. In addition the 
developer is required to show that the existing detention pond can hold the proposed levels of 
storm water from a predominantly impervious surface. (To be provided at the meeting). 
 
Electric utilities are overhead on Highway 206 and underground for the rest of the development 
per the Town’s subdivision regulations.  
 
Water is provided and Poplar Grove Utility District and sewer by the Town of Atoka. 
 
Two existing fire hydrants are to be relocated and meet the Town’s standards for location of fire 
hydrants. 
 
Safety 
The Town of Atoka Fire Department has approved the aisle widths, turning radii, and ability of 
pavement to withstand heavy emergency vehicles. They, and the police department, will have an 
emergency access code for entry in the event of an emergency. 

6



 
Note: More information may be presented at the meeting 
 
Attachment: 
 
TDOT Tentative Permit letter – Highway 206/APC Rentals 
Site and Design Review Plans 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7



8



Johnstone & Associates 
Michele Johnstone, AICP 
3469 Countrywood Road 
Belden, MS 38826 
662.419.0161 
Sjohnstone73@icloud.com 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:  Atoka Municipal/Regional Planning Commission 
FROM: Michele Johnstone, AICP 
DATE:  June 17, 2021 
RE:  Maple Woods Village, Section C Subdivision Plat Request 
 
Regulating Language for Major Subdivision Preliminary Plat Approval 
 

A. GENERAL 
1. Any owner of land lying within the area of the jurisdiction of the Planning Commission 

wishing to divide such land into 2 or more lots, sites or divisions for the purpose of, 
either immediate or future, sale or building shall make application to the Planning 
Commission by submitting the required plats along with any required application fees. 
Such plats shall conform to the minimum standards for subdivision design as set forth in 
Article 4 of these regulations and such additional site peculiar criteria as deemed 
necessary by the Planning Commission or the town technical staff. 

2. The subdivider/developer shall consult early and informally with the Planning 
Commission and its technical staff for advice and assistance before the preparation of 
the Preliminary Plat, and its formal application for approval. This will ensure 
familiarization with these regulations, the major road plan and other official plans or 
public improvements which might affect the area. Such informal review should prevent 
unnecessary and costly revisions. 

3. The procedure for review and approval of subdivisions and its documentation consists 
of 2 separate steps. The first step is the submission and action on a Preliminary Plat. 
The Preliminary Plat provides all necessary information for the Planning Commission 
to determine if the proposed development adheres to the adopted standards and 
regulations. The second step is the submission and action on a Final Plat. The Final 
Plat provides information relative to the calls and bearings for lot lines and has all 
necessary certificates of approval from various town and county offices to ensure 
protection of future owners of the property. The Final Plat, once approved by the 
Planning Commission and signed by the secretary, becomes the instrument to be 
recorded by the office of the County Registrar, subsequently allowing for the sale of the 
lots. 
A. Previously Approved Plats - Upon adoption of these subdivision regulations, any 

portion and/or section of an approved Preliminary Plat not having gained Final 
Plat approval shall be considered as an approved Preliminary Plat in accordance 
with these regulations. Subsequently, any future plats relating to an approved 



Preliminary Plat shall adhere to the Final Plat requirements of these regulations 
and any subsequent amendments to these regulations. 

B. Official Submission Dates and Deadlines - All plats and plans of subdivisions shall 
be submitted to Town Hall no less than 30 days prior to the regularly scheduled 
Planning Commission meeting. Any plat or plan submitted less than 30 days prior to 
the regularly scheduled Planning Commission meeting shall not be considered until 
the subsequent meeting. The official submission date of a plat shall be the date of 
the meeting in which the plat appears on the agenda in which action is requested. 
The statutory period required for formal approval or disapproval shall not begin to 
run until that date. 

C. Official Submission of Revisions to Plat - A plat that is re-submitted to the Planning 
Commission to be on the agenda of a subsequent Planning Commission meeting 
shall indicate on the revised plat how revisions requested by the Planning 
Commission or staff have been resolved. The re-submitted plat and accompanying 
letter shall be submitted to Town Hall no less than 30 days prior to the regular 
Planning Commission meeting. 

D. Required Submission - Prior to commencing any street improvements, substantial 
grading, installation of utilities or any horizontal construction, the 
subdivider/developer shall submit a set of plans to obtain the approval of the 
indicated agencies as follows: 
(1) Submission of a Preliminary Plat to the subdivision review staff and the 

Planning Commission in accordance with Section B. of this Article. The  
subdivision review staff should include, at a minimum, the town engineer, and 
the town planning staff. Other department officials or town officials that should 
be involved in the review of major subdivisions are the building inspector, the 
public utilities director, the fire chief and the police chief. No construction of 
any structures shall commence nor shall any building permits be issued until the 
Planning Commission has approved the Final Plat 

(2) A cost estimate of all improvements and drainage plans prepared by a licensed 
agent (engineer or contractor) of the owner. The estimate shall be submitted to  
the Town Engineer for approval. 

(3) A Final Plat in accordance with Section D. of this Article. 
E. Application Fees - The schedule of required subdivision application and review fees 

is located in the Appendix of the Atoka Municipal-Regional Subdivision 
Regulations. 
 

B. PRELIMINARY PLAT 
The Preliminary Plat is the initial formal plat for a proposed subdivision and shall 
include the full area of the proposed subdivision. The purpose of the Preliminary 
Plat is to insure the proposed subdivision conforms to these regulations, the zoning 
ordinance, the major road plan and other related regulations. The 
subdivider/developer should consult early with the planning staff and review the 
municipal major road plan, subdivision regulations and the zoning ordinance prior 
to submitting a Preliminary Plat for approval. 
1. Plat Submission - After consultation with the Planning Commission and/or the 
planning staff, but not less than 30 days prior to the Planning Commission meeting 



at which the Preliminary Plat shall be considered, the subdivider/developer shall 
submit 8 copies of the plat, an electronic version as required by the Town, together 
with all applicable fees, to Town Hall. 
2. Plat Content - The Preliminary Plat shall adhere to the minimum design 
standards as set forth in Article 4; shall be prepared by a Professional Civil 
Engineer or a Land Surveyor licensed in the state of Tennessee; shall be drawn to a 
scale of not less than 1 inch = 100 feet and shall contain the following information 
even when a  subdivision is to be developed in phases or sections; 

a.Scale, date of preparation, north arrow, vicinity map, acreage, zoning 
classification and number of lots; 

b. Subdivision name; name and address of the subdivider/developer and/or 
developers and the name of the individual responsible for the preparation of the 
plat; 

c. Lot lines, dimensions of lot lines, lot numbers including Common Open 
Space, building setback lines, and the lot area in square feet; 

d. Boundary lines from deed records and surveys; 
e. Adjoining subdivisions by name and section, and the names of owners and 

acreage of all abutting tracts; 
f. Name, location, and rights-of-ways of all existing and proposed streets 

and alleys; The approximate distance and bearing at the right-of-way from a 
corner of the subdivided property to the nearest public cross road, including the 
name of the road, and rounded to the nearest foot 

g. All existing buildings, primary and accessory on or within 300 feet on any 
adjacent properties; 

h. Location and type of all existing and proposed utilities (i.e. water, sewer, 
electric and gas); 

i. Proposed method of sewage disposal; 
j. 100-year floodplain, floodway boundaries and elevations of each; 
k. Major environmental features, including groupings or stands of trees; 
l. All existing and proposed public and private easements including their 

location, purpose and width, and the instrument number for any existing 
easements; 

m. Existing and proposed contour data showing contour intervals of 5 feet or 
less; elevation shall reference a bench mark on or near the subjects property; 

n. Sites reserved for parks, playgrounds, open spaces, schools or other 
public uses, together with the purpose, and conditions or limitations of such 
reservations; 

o. Where divisions of the property into phases or sections is contemplated, 
the proposed boundaries of such sections shall be shown and labeled, and the 
sequence of development listed alphabetically or numerically; 

p. A drainage plan which shall include, but not be limited to, an analysis of 
the drainage area, a storm water routing plan showing maximum quantities of 
flow and maximum rates of flow before and after development. A map of the 
drainage area in which the subdivision is located shall be included with the 
drainage plan and shall include the drainage structures leading to and from the 



subdivision with their sizes. The scale of the map shall be drawn to scale no less 
than 1 inch equals 200 feet. 

q. Where the re-subdivision of a lot in a previously recorded subdivision is 
proposed, the title of the proposed subdivision must indicate and identify the lot 
number and subdivision name from the previous subdivision; 
r. The location of existing storm sewers and sanitary sewers or the distance to the 
nearest available structure if within 750 feet; 
s. Request for variances from the subdivision regulations, along with justification of 
proposed variances, shall be submitted in writing with the application for 
Preliminary Plat approval; and, 
t. Certification by Tipton County 911 stating that there is not duplication in the 
name of the subdivision or the name of the street. 
 

3. Plat Review 
a. Subdivision Review Staff - The subdivision review staff shall recommend to the 
Planning Commission the approval, approval with conditions or disapproval of the 
application and shall include all department/agency comments received. 
b. Planning Commission - Within 60 days after submission of the Preliminary Plat, 
the Planning Commission shall review the plat and indicate its approval, 
disapproval, or approval subject to modifications. If a plat is disapproved,  reasons 
for such disapproval shall be stated in writing. If approved, subject to modifications, 
the nature of the required modifications shall be indicated. The Planning 
Commission may, prior to the close of the public meeting, hold the matter under 
advisement or defers a decision until the next regular meeting. Substantial changes 
made to the plat after review by the subdivision review staff shall be cause for the 
Planning Commission to defer a decision pending review of a revised plat. i 
c. Revised Plat - If changes or modifications are required by the Planning 
Commission, the subdivider/developer shall submit a revised Preliminary Plat 
which clearly depicts the required changes no less than 30 days prior to the 
Planning Commission meeting at which it is to be considered. 
d. Failure To Take Action - Failure of the Planning Commission to act on the 
Preliminary Plat within 60 days shall be deemed approval of this plat, provided, 
however, that the applicant, with the Commission's approval, may waive this 
requirement and consent to the extension of such period. ii 

4.  Plat Approval 
a. Action upon Approval - Upon approval of the Preliminary Plat by the Planning 
Commission, the subdivider/developer shall present 8 copies of the approved 
Preliminary Plat for signing by the Planning Commission secretary. The 
subdivider/developer shall then provide the signed copies to the town recorder or 
his/her designated representative for filing in Town hall. 
b. Effect of Approval - The approval of the Preliminary Plat by the Planning 
Commission shall not constitute acceptance of the Final Plat and shall not be 
indicated on the Preliminary Plat. 
c. Expiration of Approval and Renewal - The approval of the Preliminary Plat shall 
lapse unless a Final Plat, based thereon, is submitted within 3 years from the date of 
such approval unless an extension of time is applied for and granted by the 



Planning Commission, based on TCA 13-4-310. Failure of the subdivider/developer 
to act within the specified time or denial of a time extension shall require new 
application for Preliminary Plat approval including the application fee. 
 

Situation 
 
Munford Development received approval from the Town for a rezoning from R-1 (Low 
Density Residential) to R-2 (Medium Density Residential) for approximately 79 acres 
near Maple Drive. The developer is requesting approval for Phase I of a multi-phase 
master subdivision plan. 
 
Transportation Access 
 
The Subdivision Review Team reviewed the plat. The Fire Department approved street 
widths and number of access points for Phase I (2 points of access). Although the 
Commission is not reviewing the master plan, it is worth noting that the developer is 
providing stub outs to the east and south. We are appreciative of the developer 
providing insight into the future phases; it helps in future planning. In this phase the 
developer is presenting 63 lots for development, which requires two points of access to 
a public road. Access is provided via Westerfield and Donnybrook to Maple Drive. 
 
The stub out to the east (more likely to be developed in the near future) could lead to a 
connection to Maple Drive. The stub out to the south would lead to a connection to 
Meade Lake Road, although it could be much later before this connection happens. The 
connections do not exactly mirror the potential connections noted on the Major Road, 
but they are close. 
 
Amenities 
 
The developer is planning walking trails in the Master Plan, and intends to leave some 
tree stands in the Common Area where the wet detention pond is located. 
 
Drainage Plan 
 
Although the proposed wet detention pond is noted on the Master Plan to be 
geographically in Phase 2, it is noted on the plat that it will be constructed in Phase 1.  
 
It is also noted on the plat that the detention area will be the responsibility of the 
Homeowner’s Association. 
 
Flood Plain 
 
A portion of the master development is in the 100-year flood plain, but none of Phase I 
is located in the flood plain.  

 
  



 Lot Size 
 

Although the R-2 zoning permits a minimum lot size as low as 8,000 square feet the lots 
indicated on the Preliminary Plat Phase 1 are over 10,000 square feet, the minimum for 
the R-1zone. As was mentioned in the rezoning application, the developers requested R-2 
zoning so that they could have a 75’ lot width at the building line as opposed to 100’ 
which is required in the R-1 zone. 
 
Name 
 
This development is by name an extension of the existing Maple Woods Village, Sections 
A and B., so there should not be confusion for 911 authorities. 

 
 Attachments 
 Phase I Maple Woods Village, Section C 

Master Plan Maple Woods Village, Section C 
Atoka Master Road Plan map 

 
 
 

















 

21
 

TO
W

N
 O

F 
A

TO
KA

 C
O

M
PL

ET
E 

ST
R

EE
TS

 P
LA

N
 

                             
 

Fi
gu

re
 1

3 
Ill

us
tr

at
iv

e 
Ro

ad
w

ay
 C

on
ne

ct
io

n 
O

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s 

C
o

st
 E

st
im

at
es

 a
n

d
 P

ro
je

ct
 D

es
cr

ip
ti

o
n

s 
 

W
hi

le
 r

oa
dw

ay
 n

et
w

or
k 

re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
ns

 w
ou

ld
 b

e 
im

pl
em

en
te

d 
ov

er
 t

he
 lo

ng
 t

er
m

, p
la

nn
in

g-
le

ve
l c

os
t 

es
tim

at
es

 a
re

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
to

 
he

lp
 t

ow
n 

of
fic

ia
ls

 g
ai

n 
a 

ge
ne

ra
l u

nd
er

st
an

di
ng

 o
f 

pr
oj

ec
t 

m
ag

ni
tu

de
 a

s 
w

el
l a

s 
po

te
nt

ia
l l

on
g-

te
rm

 in
ve

st
m

en
t 

ne
ed

s.
 A

ga
in

, e
ac

h 
pr

oj
ec

t’s
 im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

(w
he

n 
an

d 
w

he
re

) 
w

ill
 v

ar
y,

 w
hi

ch
 in

ev
ita

bl
y 

im
pa

ct
s 

co
st

s.
 A

cq
ui

si
tio

n 
an

d 
co

ns
tr

uc
ta

bi
lit

y 
of

 r
ig

ht
-o

f-
w

ay
 





Maple Drive - Residential Subdivision – Atoka, TN 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 

 Page - i 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ...................................................................................................... 2 
2.0 INTRODUCTION ....................................................................................................................... 3 
3.0 EXISTING CONDITIONS ..................................................................................................... 8 
4.0 FUTURE CONDITIONS ...................................................................................................... 11 
5.0 LEVEL OF SERVICE ANALYSIS ................................................................................ 16 
6.0 RECOMMENDATIONS ....................................................................................................... 19 
 

 

Table 1: LOS Control Delay Thresholds ................................................................................................... 7 
Table 2: Trip Generation Summary Table ............................................................................................... 11 
Table 3: Peak Hour Overall Delay and LOS Summary Table by Intersection ..................................... 18 
 

 

Figure 1: Vicinity Map ................................................................................................................................. 3 
Figure 2: Preliminary Site Plan .................................................................................................................. 4 
Figure 3: Study Area ................................................................................................................................... 5 
Figure 4: 2021 Existing Lane Configuration and Control ....................................................................... 9 
Figure 5: 2021 Existing Peak Hour Traffic Volumes .............................................................................. 10 
Figure 6: 2023 No-Build Peak Hour Traffic Volumes ............................................................................. 13 
Figure 7: Site Traffic Distribution and Assignment ............................................................................... 14 
Figure 8: 2023 Build Peak Hour Traffic Volumes ................................................................................... 15 



Maple Drive - Residential Subdivision – Atoka, TN 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 

 Page - 2 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Ledford Engineering Planning & Architecture is assisting with the development of a piece of 
property south of Maple Drive in Atoka, TN. The property is currently undeveloped and is bound 
by an existing residential subdivision to the north and undeveloped property to the south, east, 
and west. This development is proposed to consist of 168 single-family houses and is expected 
to be fully constructed by the end of 2023. The subject development is proposed to connect to 
the existing Maple Woods Village subdivision south of Maple Drive, with proposed roads 
connecting to Donnybrook Drive and Westerfield Drive. For the purposes of this study, it was 
assumed that the proposed development will be constructed in a single phase. The purpose of 
this study is to determine the potential traffic impacts of this proposed development on the 
adjacent roadways and intersections and identify potential solutions to mitigate those impacts. 
The Existing (2021), No-Build (2023) and Build (2023) traffic conditions were evaluated as part 
of this traffic study. 

Based on the results of the analyses, it was determined that the proposed development will not 
have impacts on the surrounding road network and study intersections. The study intersections 
consisted of Maple Drive at Donnybrook Drive and Maple Drive at Westerfield Drive. All 
movements and approaches at these intersections are expected to operate at LOS A in the No-
Build and Build conditions in the AM and PM peak hours. The Florida Department of 
Transportation 2012 FDOT Quality/Level of Service Tables provides guidance for determining 
the Level of Service of road segments based on various criteria. As outlined in Table 2 of the 
Florida Department of Transportation 2012 FDOT Quality/Level of Service Tables for 
Transitioning Areas and Areas Over 5,000 Not In Urbanized Areas, Maple Drive is considered a 
Class II roadway with a posted speed limit of 35 MPH or lower. The threshold for LOS C for two-
lane undivided Class II state signalized arterials is an AADT of 6,500 vehicles. Maple Drive is a 
non-state signalized roadway, which reduces the AADT threshold of 6,500 vehicles by 10% to 
an AADT threshold of 5,850 vehicles. The AADT on Maple Drive in 2019 was approximately 728 
vehicles, indicating that Maple Drive currently operates at the minimum LOS C outlined in Table 
2 of the FDOT Quality/Level of Service Tables. With the addition of the development traffic and 
potential background traffic growth, the future estimated AADT in 2023 is 2,200 vehicles. Maple 
Drive will continue to operate at LOS C or better with or without the proposed development. No 
recommendations are made for this development.   

 

 

 

 

  



Maple Drive - Residential Subdivision – Atoka, TN 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 

 Page - 3 

2.0 INTRODUCTION 
Ledford Engineering Planning & Architecture is assisting with the development of a piece of 
property located south of Maple Drive in Atoka, TN. The property is currently undeveloped and 
is bound by an existing residential subdivision to the north and undeveloped property to the 
south, east, and west. This development is proposed to consist of 168 single-family houses and 
is expected to be fully constructed by the end of 2023. The subject development is proposed to 
connect to the existing Maple Woods Village subdivision south of Maple Drive, with proposed 
connecting to Donnybrook Drive and Westerfield Drive. For the purposes of this study, it was 
assumed that the proposed development will be constructed in a single phase. The purpose of 
this study is to determine the potential traffic impacts of this proposed development on the 
adjacent roadways and intersections and identify potential solutions to mitigate those impacts. 
The Existing (2021), No-Build (2023) and Build (2023) traffic conditions were evaluated as part 
of this traffic study. 

2.1 Project Location 
The proposed development is located south of the existing Maple Woods Village subdivision 
located along Maple Drive in Atoka, TN. The project location is shown on the vicinity map in 
Error! Reference source not found.. A preliminary site plan is shown in Figure 2. 

The development is proposed to provide access to Maple Drive at the existing full-access 
Donnybrook Drive and Westerfield Drive locations.  

Figure 1: Vicinity Map 

 

 



Maple Drive - Residential Subdivision – Atoka, TN 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 

 Page - 4 

Figure 2: Preliminary Site Plan 

 

The following intersections were evaluated as part of this traffic study and are shown in Figure 
3.  

1. Maple Drive at Donnybrook Drive 
2. Maple Drive at Westerfield Drive 

 



FIGURE 3

STUDY AREA

W
E

S
T

E
R

F
IE

LD
 D

R
IV

E

M
APLE

 D
RIV

E

MAPLE DRIVE 

DONNYBROOK DRIVE

RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION



Maple Drive - Residential Subdivision – Atoka, TN 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 

 Page - 6 

2.2 Data Collection and Study Methodology 
Traffic counts were conducted at the study intersections in April 2021 during the AM and PM 
peak hours as a part of this project. These traffic counts are provided in Appendix A. 

Historic traffic counts conducted over the last 10 years were obtained from the Tennessee 
Department of Transportation (TDOT). A trend line analysis of these counts indicates that traffic 
in this area has grown at a rate of 1.31% per year over the last 10 years and declined at a rate 
of -1.06% over the past five years. Based on this information, a conservative background growth 
rate of 1.50% per year was used to account for traffic growth in this area from 2021 to the 
project build year of 2023. A higher growth rate was used for this study to account for the 
significant portion of undeveloped land in the surrounding area.  A copy of these calculations 
can be found in Appendix A. 

The methodology used for this study is consistent with the Institute of Transportation Engineers 
(ITE) recommendations for conducting a traffic impact analysis. The number of trips expected to 
be generated by the development were determined using the ITE Trip Generation Manual, 10th 
Edition. The distribution of trips generated from the proposed development was estimated 
based on existing traffic patterns, the proposed development, and existing land use of the 
surrounding area. Based on the expected trip distribution, the project trips were assigned to the 
adjacent roadway and intersections. Capacity analyses of the study intersections were 
conducted for the existing conditions and for the proposed development. To determine the traffic 
volumes for the proposed development, the site traffic was added to the background traffic for 
the appropriate analysis years, as described above. All capacity analyses were conducted in 
accordance with the methods and procedures outlined in the most current version of the 
Transportation Research Board Highway Capacity Manual.  

2.3 Intersection Capacity Analysis 
Intersection capacity is defined as the maximum number of vehicles that can pass through an 
intersection within a fixed time duration. Level of Service (LOS) is used to describe the 
operating characteristics of an intersection or roadway under various traffic conditions. LOS is a 
qualitative measure based on the average delay per vehicle. The Highway Capacity Manual 
defines six levels of services, LOS A through LOS F, with A representing the shortest average 
delays and F representing the longest average delays. Table 1 shows the LOS delay thresholds 
published in the Highway Capacity Manual for signalized and unsignalized intersections with 
corresponding definitions that are used as guidelines when determining the LOS. 



Maple Drive - Residential Subdivision – Atoka, TN 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 

 Page - 7 

Table 1: LOS Control Delay Thresholds 

LOS 

Signalized Intersections –  
Control Delay Per Vehicle 

[sec/veh] 

 Unsignalized Intersections –  
Average Control Delay 

[sec/veh] 
Relative 

Delay 

A 

≤ 10 ≤ 10 

Short 
Delays 

Free-flow traffic operations at average travel speeds. Vehicles 
completely unimpeded in ability to maneuver. Minimal delay at 
signalized intersections. 

B 

> 10 – 20 > 10 – 15 
Reasonably unimpeded traffic operations at average travel speeds. 
Vehicle maneuverability slightly restricted.  Low traffic delays. 

C 

> 20 – 35 > 15 – 25 
Stable traffic operations. Lane changes becoming more restricted.  
Travel speeds reduced to half of average free flow travel speeds.  
Longer intersection delays.  

D 

>35 – 55 > 25 – 35 

Moderate 
Delays 

Small increases in traffic flow can cause increased delays.  Delays 
likely attributable to increased traffic, reduced signal progression 
and adverse timing. 

E 
>55 – 80 > 35 – 50 

Significant delays. Travel speeds reduced to one third of average 
free flow travel speed.   

F 

> 80 > 50 
Long 

Delays 
Extremely low speeds.  Intersection congestion.  Long delays.  
Extensive traffic queues at intersections. 

Source:  Highway Capacity Manual, Transportation Research Board, Washington, D.C., 2010 

  



Maple Drive - Residential Subdivision – Atoka, TN 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 

 Page - 8 

3.0 EXISTING CONDITIONS 
An analysis of the existing conditions for the subject intersections and existing roadway 
characteristics was conducted to provide a basis of comparison to the future traffic scenarios. 
Maple Drive is a two-lane road with a 30 MPH speed limit. Donnybrook Drive and Westerfield 
Drive are two-lane roads with a 30 MPH speed limit that provide full access to Maple Drive from 
the existing Maple Woods Village Subdivision. The existing lane configuration and traffic control 
for each study intersection is shown in Figure 4. 

Peak hours of traffic flow were determined from the traffic counts collected in April 2021. The 
existing AM and PM peak hour traffic volumes for the subject intersections are summarized in 
Figure 5. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Intentionally Left Blank) 

  



FIGURE 4

2021 EXISTING LANE 

W
E

S
T

E
R

F
IE

LD
 D

R
IV

E

M
APLE

 D
RIV

E

MAPLE DRIVE

DONNYBROOK DRIVE

CONFIGURATION AND CONTROL

STOP

STOP

STOP

RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION



FIGURE 5

2021 EXISTING PEAK HOUR 

W
E

S
T

E
R

F
IE

LD
 D

R
IV

E

M
APLE

 D
RIV

E

MAPLE DRIVE

DONNYBROOK DRIVE

TRAFFIC VOLUMES

1(7)
3(23)

1(6)
6(13) 2(

5)

3(
1)

2

0(3)
5(13)

3(14)
6(13) 0(

2)

13
(2

)

1

RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION



Maple Drive - Residential Subdivision – Atoka, TN 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 

 Page - 11 

4.0 FUTURE CONDITIONS 
This section describes the process used to determine the future background traffic volumes, the 
projected number of new trips the proposed site will generate, and how this new site traffic is 
projected to use the roadway network. 

4.1  Background Traffic 
This proposed development is expected to be constructed by the end of 2023. Background 
traffic volumes for this future year was obtained by increasing the existing 2021 traffic volumes 
by an amount that represents potential growth of traffic in the study area, based upon historic 
growth trends. As previously stated, a growth rate of 1.5% per year was used for this study. 
These projected background traffic volumes are provided in Figure 6. 

4.2  Project Traffic 
Project traffic is the number of vehicle trips expected to be generated by the proposed 
development. These traffic volumes were estimated and then assigned to the road network for 
the “Build” condition. 

Trip Generation 

The Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual, 10th Edition was used 
to determine the number of trips expected to be generated by the proposed development. Trips 
for the AM and PM peak hours were determined using the average rates as provided in the ITE 
Manual for the AM and PM peak hour of Adjacent Street Traffic. The average rates for vehicle 
trip generation per dwelling unit are 9.44, 0.74, and 0.99 for Daily, AM, and PM peak hour trips, 
respectively. For this land use, the intensity matches the data points provided in the ITE Trip 
Generation Manual for the average rate better than the fitted curve equation.  A summary of the 
land use and intensity planned for this development is shown in Table 2. 

Table 2: Trip Generation Summary Table 

 

This development is proposed to consist of multiple single-family detached residential units with 
no other land uses. Therefore, pass-by trip reductions and internal capture reductions are not 
applicable.  

 

  

Daily Trips

Total Total In Out Total In Out

210 Single-Family Detached Housing 168 D.U. 1,586 124 31 93 166 105 61

1,586 124 31 93 166 105 61

PM Peak Hour TripsITE     
Code

Land Use Type Intensity
AM Peak Hour Trips

Trip Generation Table 

Total Project Trips



Maple Drive - Residential Subdivision – Atoka, TN 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 

 Page - 12 

Trip Distribution and Assignment 

The distribution of trips going to and from the proposed development was estimated based on 
existing traffic counts, development of the surrounding area, and the location of businesses, 
schools, and places of work in the area. As shown in Figure 7,  it was estimated that 90% of the 
traffic generated by this development would be oriented to the west on Maple Drive and 10% 
from the east on Maple Drive during the AM peak hour. During the PM peak hour, 65% of the 
traffic generated by this development is expected to be oriented to the west on Maple Drive and 
35% from the east on Maple Drive.  

Based on the distribution of trips, traffic generated by the site was assigned to the roadway 
network and added to the background traffic to obtain the total 2023 “Build” traffic. The site 
traffic distribution percentages and assigned peak hour volumes for the proposed site are 
shown in Figure 7. Total peak hour traffic volumes (background plus site traffic) for the full 
build-out are shown in Figure 8. A copy of the intersection volume spreadsheets detailing the 
total volume calculations can be found in Appendix B.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Intentionally Left Blank) 

  



MAPLE DRIVE

2023 NO-BUILD PEAK HOUR 

W
E

S
T

E
R

F
IE

LD
 D

R
IV

E

M
APLE

 D
RIV

E

RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION

DONNYBROOK DRIVE

TRAFFIC VOLUMES

1(7)
3(24)

1(6)
6(13) 2(

5)

3(
1)

2

0(3)
5(13)

3(14)
6(13) 0(

2)

13
(2

)

1

FIGURE 6



MAPLE DRIVE

SITE TRAFFIC DISTRIBUTION

W
E

S
T

E
R

F
IE

LD
 D

R
IV

E

M
APLE

 D
RIV

E

RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION

DONNYBROOK DRIVE

AND ASSIGNMENT

2(26)
1(11)

3(16)
4(6)

5(
15

)

19
(9

)

2

1(11)
19(9)

25(52)
3(16) 4(

6)

65
(3

1)

1

FIGURE 7



MAPLE DRIVE

2023 BUILD PEAK HOUR

W
E

S
T

E
R

F
IE

LD
 D

R
IV

E

M
APLE

 D
RIV

E

RESIDENTIAL SUBDIVISION

DONNYBROOK DRIVE

TRAFFIC VOLUMES

3(33)
4(35)

4(22)
10(19)

7(
20

)

22
(1

0)

2

1(14)
24(22)

28(66)
9(29) 4(

8)

78
(3

3)

1

FIGURE 8



Maple Drive - Residential Subdivision – Atoka, TN 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 

 Page - 16 

5.0 LEVEL OF SERVICE ANALYSIS 
The traffic volumes for the existing and future conditions were analyzed using the Highway 
Capacity Manual methodologies to determine the average vehicle delay and LOS for the AM 
and PM peak hours. The following scenarios were analyzed and are described below: 

 Existing (2021) 
 No-Build (2023) 
 Build (2023) 

Existing (2021) 
The existing AM and PM peak hour conditions were analyzed to establish the existing 
conditions as the baseline to be used for comparison using the traffic counts conducted as 
previously described. 

No-Build and Build (2023) 
The developer expects the site to be fully built out and occupied by the end of 2023. The 2023 
No-Build and Build conditions were analyzed to determine how the full build-out conditions will 
impact the surrounding road network. The No-Build condition consists of an analysis of the 
existing roadway and traffic control conditions with the expected background growth in traffic 
between 2021 and the end of 2023, with no development on this site. The Build condition 
consists of an analysis of the 2023 background traffic plus the project traffic expected to be 
generated by the development. The impact of the development can be determined by 
comparing the results of these two conditions.  

The results of the analyses for these three conditions for each study intersection are described 
below and provided in the tables in Appendix C. Copies of the capacity analysis reports for 
each scenario can be found in Appendix D. Table 3 provides a summary of the expected 
overall intersection delay and LOS for each intersection and analysis scenario in the AM and 
PM peak hours 

5.1 Intersection Analyses 
All movements discussed in the following sections were identified as being impacted by the 
addition of traffic generated by the proposed development in the Build condition. Movements 
meeting one of the following criteria were defined as being impacted by development traffic: 

1. The movement is expected to operate at LOS C or better in the No-Build condition and is 
expected to operate at LOS D or worse in the Build condition, or 

2. The movement is expected to operate at LOS D or worse in the No-Build condition and 
the addition of the development traffic in the Build condition is expected to cause the 
LOS for the movement to become worse, or 

3. The movement is expected to operate at LOS F in the No-Build condition and is 
expected to continue to operate at LOS F with the addition of the development traffic in 
the Build condition but with a higher delay in the Build condition than in the No-Build 
condition.  



Maple Drive - Residential Subdivision – Atoka, TN 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 

 Page - 17 

For two-way stop-controlled intersections, overall intersection delays and Level of Service are 
reported as the highest minor street approach values. Individual intersection movements that 
are expected to operate at LOS C or better in the Build condition were determined to be 
operating at an acceptable LOS and are not discussed in this section.  

Maple Drive at Donnybrook Drive 
Maple Drive at Donnybrook Drive is an unsignalized intersection. This intersection provides full 
access to Maple Drive from the Maple Woods Village subdivision and consists of one 
southbound entrance lane and one northbound exit lane. As a part of this project, Donnybrook 
Drive is proposed to extend into the proposed development and provide full access for site 
traffic to Maple Drive. All movements and approaches are expected to operate at LOS A in the 
AM and PM peak hours for the No-Build and Build conditions. Therefore, no additional 
improvements are needed for this intersection.    
 
Maple Drive at Westerfield Drive 
Maple Drive at Westerfield Drive is an unsignalized intersection. This intersection provides full 
access to Maple Drive from the Maple Woods Village subdivision and consists of one 
southbound entrance lane and one northbound exit lane. As a part of this project, Westerfield 
Drive is proposed to extend into the proposed development and provide full access for site 
traffic to Maple Drive. All movements and approaches are expected to operate at LOS A in the 
AM and PM peak hours for the No-Build and Build conditions. Therefore, no additional 
improvements are needed for this intersection.    
 
A summary table of the overall intersection delay and LOS for each intersection and analysis 
scenario is provided in Table 3. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(Intentionally Left Blank) 
 



Maple Drive - Residential Subdivision – Atoka, TN 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 

 Page - 18 

Table 3: Peak Hour Overall Delay and LOS Summary Table by Intersection 

 

 

Donnybrook 
Drive at Maple 

Drive

Westerfield 
Drive at Maple 

Drive

Delay 8.7 8.6

LOS (A) (A)

Delay 8.7 8.6

LOS (A) (A)

Delay 9.6 8.9

LOS (A) (A)

Donnybrook 
Drive at Maple 

Drive

Westerfield 
Drive at Maple 

Drive

Delay 8.7 8.6

LOS (A) (A)

Delay 8.7 8.6

LOS (A) (A)

Delay 9.8 9.2

LOS (A) (A)
* Highest minor street approach delay is displayed for unsignalized intersections. 

Build (2023)

AM Peak Hour

Build (2023)

No-Build (2023)

Existing (2021)

No-Build (2023)

PM Peak Hour

Existing (2021)



Maple Drive - Residential Subdivision – Atoka, TN 
Traffic Impact Analysis 

 

 Page - 19 

6.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
Based on the analysis described in Section 5 and the results shown in Table 3, all movements 
and approaches at the study intersections are expected to operate at LOS A in the No-Build and 
Build conditions in the AM and PM peak hours. The Florida Department of Transportation 2012 
FDOT Quality/Level of Service Tables provides guidance for determining the Level of Service of 
road segments based on various criteria. As outlined in Table 2 of the Florida Department of 
Transportation 2012 FDOT Quality/Level of Service Tables for Transitioning Areas and Areas 
Over 5,000 Not In Urbanized Areas, Maple Drive is considered a Class II roadway with a posted 
speed limit of 35 MPH or lower. The threshold for LOS C for two-lane undivided Class II state 
signalized arterials is an AADT of 6,500 vehicles. Maple Drive is a non-state signalized 
roadway, which reduces the AADT threshold of 6,500 vehicles by 10% to an AADT threshold of 
5,850 vehicles. The AADT on Maple Drive in 2019 was approximately 728 vehicles, indicating 
that Maple Drive currently operates at the minimum LOS C outlined in Table 2 of the FDOT 
Quality/Level of Service Tables. With the addition of the development traffic and potential 
background traffic growth, the future estimated AADT in 2023 is 2,200 vehicles. Maple Drive will 
continue to operate at LOS C or better with or without the proposed development. No 
recommendations are made for this development.   

 



Appendix Table of Contents 

 

Appendix A 

Existing Traffic Counts 

TDOT Average Annual Daily Traffic 

Traffic Growth Rate Calculations 

 

Appendix B 

Intersection Volume Spreadsheets 

 

Appendix C 

LOS and Delay Analysis Tables 

 

Appendix D 

Synchro Reports 

 

 

  



Appendix A 
 

Existing Traffic Counts 

TDOT Historic Average Annual Daily Traffic 

Traffic Growth Rate Calculations 

 

  



0

0

0

-

0

0

0

C
o
u
n
t 
D

a
te

:

0

1
8

5
5

2
7

0
0

1
1

9
6

6

3

13

0

0

3

13

16

M
a
p

le
 D

ri
v
e

Donnybrook Drive

 

A
M

 P
E

A
K

 H
O

U
R

 

IN
T

E
R

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 D
IA

G
R

A
M

4
/1

/2
0
2
1

6
:0

0
 A

M
7
:0

0
 A

M
P

e
a
k
 H

o
u
r:

M
a
p

le
 D

ri
v
e

E
W

SN



0

0

0

-

0

0

0

C
o
u
n
t 
D

a
te

:

0

1
5

1
3

1
6

4
2

0
3

3
1

2
7

1
3

1
5

1
4

2

0

2

17

4

21

M
a
p

le
 D

ri
v
e

M
a
p

le
 D

ri
v
e

Donnybrook Drive

4
/1

/2
0
2
1

 

P
M

 P
E

A
K

 H
O

U
R

 

IN
T

E
R

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 D
IA

G
R

A
M

P
e
a
k
 H

o
u
r:

4
:4

5
 P

M
5
:4

5
 P

M

E
W

SN



0

0

0

-

0

0

0

C
o
u
n
t 
D

a
te

:

0

6
3

4

1
3

0
1

1
2

7
6

8

1

3

0

2

2

5

7

M
a
p

le
 D

ri
v
e

Westefield Drive

 

A
M

 P
E

A
K

 H
O

U
R

 

IN
T

E
R

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 D
IA

G
R

A
M

4
/1

/2
0
2
1

6
:0

0
 A

M
7
:0

0
 A

M
P

e
a
k
 H

o
u
r:

M
a
p

le
 D

ri
v
e

E
W

SN



0

0

0

-

0

0

0

C
o
u
n
t 
D

a
te

:

0

2
4

2
3

3
0

4
3

0
7

4
8

1
9

1
3

1
8

6

1

0

5

13

6

19

M
a
p

le
 D

ri
v
e

M
a
p

le
 D

ri
v
e

Westefield Drive

4
/1

/2
0
2
1

 

P
M

 P
E

A
K

 H
O

U
R

 

IN
T

E
R

S
E

C
T

IO
N

 D
IA

G
R

A
M

P
e
a
k
 H

o
u
r:

5
:0

0
 P

M
6
:0

0
 P

M

E
W

SN



S
ta

ti
o

n
0

0
0

1
4

2
S

ta
ti

o
n

0
0

0
1

4
4

S
ta

ti
o

n
0

0
0

1
3

9

R
o

u
te

5
4

4
7

R
o

u
te

5
4

4
8

R
o

u
te

5
4

4
6

L
o

c
a

ti
o

n

M
a

p
le

 D
ri

v
e

 B
e

tw
e

e
n

 

Jo
y

c
e

 A
v

e
n

u
e

 a
n

d
 

T
ip

to
n

 R
o

a
d

L
o

c
a

ti
o

n

T
ip

to
n

 R
o

a
d

 B
e

tw
e

e
n

 

Ju
li

a
 D

ri
v

e
 a

n
d

 M
e

li
ss

a
 

A
v

e
n

u
e

L
o

c
a

ti
o

n

T
ra

c
y

 R
o

a
d

 B
e

tw
e

e
n

 

T
ip

to
n

 R
o

a
d

 a
n

d
 

M
e

a
d

e
 L

a
k

e
 R

o
a

d

C
o

u
n

ty
T

ip
to

n
C

o
u

n
ty

T
ip

to
n

C
o

u
n

ty
T

ip
to

n

2
0

1
9

7
2

8
2

0
1

9
1

9
4

8
2

0
1

9
2

4
9

3

2
0

1
8

7
4

6
2

0
1

8
2

0
3

0
2

0
1

8
3

0
8

5

2
0

1
7

7
6

7
2

0
1

7
2

0
5

9
2

0
1

7
3

1
0

0

2
0

1
6

7
4

3
2

0
1

6
1

9
9

5
2

0
1

6
2

6
7

1

2
0

1
5

7
2

9
2

0
1

5
2

1
6

4
2

0
1

5
2

8
4

7

2
0

1
4

6
8

4
2

0
1

4
2

1
1

0
2

0
1

4
2

6
1

0

2
0

1
3

7
2

0
2

0
1

3
2

0
8

4
2

0
1

3
2

7
3

7

2
0

1
2

5
4

8
2

0
1

2
1

8
1

1
2

0
1

2
2

4
5

9

2
0

1
1

6
1

8
2

0
1

1
2

0
1

1
2

0
1

1
2

5
3

4

2
0

1
0

6
5

3
2

0
1

0
1

8
5

7
2

0
1

0
2

5
9

9T
D

O
T

 H
is

to
ri

c 
T

ra
ff

ic
 C

o
u

n
t 

D
a

ta

C
o

u
n

t 
L
o

ca
ti

o
n

 M
a

p

0

5
0

0

1
0

0
0

1
5

0
0

2
0

0
0

2
5

0
0

3
0

0
0

3
5

0
0 2

0
0

9
2

0
1

0
2

0
1

1
2

0
1

2
2

0
1

3
2

0
1

4
2

0
1

5
2

0
1

6
2

0
1

7
2

0
1

8
2

0
1

9
2

0
2

0

A
A

D
T

 -
A

to
k

a
, 

T
N

S
ta

ti
o

n
 0

0
0

1
4

2

S
ta

ti
o

n
 0

0
0

1
4

4

S
ta

ti
o

n
 0

0
0

1
3

9

S
IT

E

0
0

0
1

4
2

0
0

0
1

3
9

0
0

0
1

4
4



Cu
rr

en
t Y

ea
r

20
21

Ye
ar

 5
20

26
Ye

ar
 1

0
20

31

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

10
 Y

ea
r G

ro
w

th
5 

Ye
ar

 G
ro

w
th

10
 Y

ea
r G

ro
w

th
5 

Ye
ar

 G
ro

w
th

10
 Y

ea
r G

ro
w

th
5 

Ye
ar

 G
ro

w
th

00
01

42
65

3
61

8
54

8
72

0
68

4
72

9
74

3
76

7
74

6
72

8
1.

15
%

-0
.0

3%
2.

10
%

0.
01

%
1.

09
%

-0
.0

3%
00

01
44

1,
85

7
2,

01
1

1,
81

1
2,

08
4

2,
11

0
2,

16
4

1,
99

5
2,

05
9

2,
03

0
1,

94
8

0.
49

%
-2

.0
0%

0.
58

%
-2

.1
1%

0.
48

%
-2

.0
8%

00
01

39
2,

59
9

2,
53

4
2,

45
9

2,
73

7
2,

61
0

2,
84

7
2,

67
1

3,
10

0
3,

08
5

2,
49

3
-0

.4
1%

-2
.4

9%
1.

26
%

-1
.0

8%
-0

.4
2%

-2
.6

2%

T
ot

al
5,

10
9

   
   

   
5,

16
3

   
   

   
4,

81
8

   
   

   
5,

54
1

   
   

   
5,

40
4

   
   

   
5,

74
0

   
   

   
5,

40
9

   
   

   
5,

92
6

   
   

   
5,

86
1

   
   

   
5,

16
9

   
   

   
0.

12
%

-1
.9

9%
1.

13
%

-1
.2

9%
0.

12
%

-2
.0

7%

0.
34

%
-1

.6
3%

1.
31

%
-1

.0
6%

0.
39

%
-1

.5
8%

AA
D

T 
Su

m
m

ar
y 

an
d 

Tr
en

d 
Li

ne
 C

al
cu

la
tio

ns

St
at

io
n 

ID
Ye

ar
Li

ne
ar

 R
at

e
Ex

po
ne

nt
ia

l R
at

e
Tr

en
d 

Li
ne

 G
ro

w
th

y 
= 

37
.2

55
x 

+ 
25

08
.6

y 
= 

11
.9

94
x 

+ 
19

40
.9

y 
= 

16
.8

48
x 

+ 
60

0.
93

0

50
0

1,
00

0

1,
50

0

2,
00

0

2,
50

0

3,
00

0

3,
50

0

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

Tr
en

d 
Li

ne
 C

ha
rt

13
9

14
4

14
2

Li
ne

ar
 (1

39
)

Li
ne

ar
 (1

44
)

Li
ne

ar
 (1

42
)



Appendix B 
 

Intersection Volume Spreadsheets 

 

  



at Donnybrook Drive

to

Donnybrook Drive Maple Drive Maple Drive

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Description Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right

2021 Counts 13 0 6 3 0 5

PHF 0.65 0.65 0.65 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.42 0.42 0.42

Annual Growth Rate 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50%

2023 No-Build Traffic 13 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 3 0 5 0

2023 Project Traffic

Site Traffic Distribution (Entering) 10.0% 80.0% 5.0%

 Site Traffic Assignment (Entering) 3 25 1

Site Traffic Distribution (Exiting) 70.0% 5.0% 20.0%

 Site Traffic Assignment (Exiting) 65 4 19

Final Project Trips 65 4 3 25 1 19

2023 Build Traffic 78 0 4 0 0 0 0 9 28 1 24 0

to

Donnybrook Drive Maple Drive Maple Drive

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Description Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right

2021 Counts 2 2 13 14 3 13

PHF 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.61 0.61 0.61 0.67 0.67 0.67

Annual Growth Rate 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50%

2023 No-Build Traffic 2 0 2 0 0 0 0 13 14 3 13 0

2023 Project Traffic

Site Traffic Distribution (Entering) 15.0% 50.0% 10.0%

 Site Traffic Assignment (Entering) 16 52 11

Site Traffic Distribution (Exiting) 50.0% 10.0% 15.0%

 Site Traffic Assignment (Exiting) 31 6 9

Final Project Trips 31 6 16 52 11 9

2023 Build Traffic 33 0 8 0 0 0 0 29 66 14 22 0

VOLUME DEVELOPMENT SHEET

Maple Drive

AM PEAK HOUR

6:00 AM 7:00 AM

4:45 PM 5:45 PM

PM PEAK HOUR



at Westerfield Drive

to

Westerfield Drive Maple Drive Maple Drive

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Description Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right

2021 Counts 3 2 6 1 1 3

PHF 0.42 0.42 0.42 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.58 0.58 0.58 0.50 0.50 0.50

Annual Growth Rate 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50%

2023 No-Build Traffic 3 0 2 0 0 0 0 6 1 1 3 0

2023 Project Traffic

Site Traffic Distribution (Entering) 10.0% 5.0% 5.0%

 Site Traffic Assignment (Entering) 3 2 1

Site Traffic Distribution (Exiting) 20.0% 5.0% 5.0%

 Site Traffic Assignment (Exiting) 19 5 4

Final Project Trips 19 5 4 3 2 1

2023 Build Traffic 22 0 7 0 0 0 0 10 4 3 4 0

to

Westerfield Drive Maple Drive Maple Drive

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Description Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right Left Through Right

2021 Counts 1 5 13 6 7 23

PHF 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.59 0.59 0.59 0.63 0.63 0.63

Annual Growth Rate 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50% 1.50%

2023 No-Build Traffic 1 0 5 0 0 0 0 13 6 7 24 0

2023 Project Traffic

Site Traffic Distribution (Entering) 15.0% 25.0% 10.0%

 Site Traffic Assignment (Entering) 16 26 11

Site Traffic Distribution (Exiting) 15.0% 25.0% 10.0%

 Site Traffic Assignment (Exiting) 9 15 6

Final Project Trips 9 15 6 16 26 11

2023 Build Traffic 10 0 20 0 0 0 0 19 22 33 35 0

5:00 PM 6:00 PM

PM PEAK HOUR

6:00 AM 7:00 AM

AM PEAK HOUR

VOLUME DEVELOPMENT SHEET

Maple Drive



Appendix C 
 

LOS and Delay Analysis Tables 

 

 

  



Le
ft

Th
ru

Ri
gh

t
Ap

pr
oa

ch
Le

ft
Th

ru
Ri

gh
t

Ap
pr

oa
ch

Le
ft

Th
ru

Ri
gh

t
Ap

pr
oa

ch
Le

ft
Th

ru
Ri

gh
t

Ap
pr

oa
ch

D
el

ay
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
0.

0
8.

7
-

8.
7

8.
7

-
-

-
-

-

LO
S

-
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
-

(A
)

(A
)

-
(A

)
(A

)
-

-
-

-
-

D
el

ay
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

-
0.

0
8.

7
-

8.
7

8.
7

-
-

-
-

-

LO
S

-
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
-

(A
)

(A
)

-
(A

)
(A

)
-

-
-

-
-

D
el

ay
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

7.
3

0.
0

-
0.

3
9.

6
-

9.
6

9.
6

-
-

-
-

-

LO
S

-
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
-

(A
)

(A
)

-
(A

)
(A

)
-

-
-

-
-

Le
ft

Th
ru

Ri
gh

t
Ap

pr
oa

ch
Le

ft
Th

ru
Ri

gh
t

Ap
pr

oa
ch

Le
ft

Th
ru

Ri
gh

t
Ap

pr
oa

ch
Le

ft
Th

ru
Ri

gh
t

Ap
pr

oa
ch

D
el

ay
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

7.
3

0.
0

-
1.

4
8.

7
-

8.
7

8.
7

-
-

-
-

-

LO
S

-
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
-

(A
)

(A
)

-
(A

)
(A

)
-

-
-

-
-

D
el

ay
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

7.
3

0.
0

-
1.

4
8.

7
-

8.
7

8.
7

-
-

-
-

-

LO
S

-
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
-

(A
)

(A
)

-
(A

)
(A

)
-

-
-

-
-

D
el

ay
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

7.
6

0.
0

-
2.

9
9.

8
-

9.
8

9.
8

-
-

-
-

-

LO
S

-
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
-

(A
)

(A
)

-
(A

)
(A

)
-

-
-

-
-

Ex
is

tin
g 

(2
02

1)

N
o-

Bu
ild

 (2
02

3)

Bu
ild

 (2
02

3)

PM
 P

ea
k 

H
ou

r

Ea
st

bo
un

d
W

es
tb

ou
nd

N
or

th
bo

un
d

So
ut

hb
ou

nd
O

ve
ra

ll 
In

te
rs

ec
tio

n

Ex
is

tin
g 

(2
02

1)

N
o-

Bu
ild

 (2
02

3)

Bu
ild

 (2
02

3)

D
on

ny
br

oo
k 

D
riv

e 
at

 M
ap

le
 D

riv
e AM

 P
ea

k 
H

ou
r

Ea
st

bo
un

d
W

es
tb

ou
nd

N
or

th
bo

un
d

So
ut

hb
ou

nd
O

ve
ra

ll 
In

te
rs

ec
tio

n



Le
ft

Th
ru

Ri
gh

t
Ap

pr
oa

ch
Le

ft
Th

ru
Ri

gh
t

Ap
pr

oa
ch

Le
ft

Th
ru

Ri
gh

t
Ap

pr
oa

ch
Le

ft
Th

ru
Ri

gh
t

Ap
pr

oa
ch

D
el

ay
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

7.
2

0.
0

-
1.

8
8.

6
-

8.
6

8.
6

-
-

-
-

-

LO
S

-
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
-

(A
)

(A
)

-
(A

)
(A

)
-

-
-

-
-

D
el

ay
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

7.
2

0.
0

-
1.

8
8.

6
-

8.
6

8.
6

-
-

-
-

-

LO
S

-
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
-

(A
)

(A
)

-
(A

)
(A

)
-

-
-

-
-

D
el

ay
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

7.
3

0.
0

-
3.

1
8.

9
-

8.
9

8.
9

-
-

-
-

-

LO
S

-
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
-

(A
)

(A
)

-
(A

)
(A

)
-

-
-

-
-

Le
ft

Th
ru

Ri
gh

t
Ap

pr
oa

ch
Le

ft
Th

ru
Ri

gh
t

Ap
pr

oa
ch

Le
ft

Th
ru

Ri
gh

t
Ap

pr
oa

ch
Le

ft
Th

ru
Ri

gh
t

Ap
pr

oa
ch

D
el

ay
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

7.
3

0.
0

-
1.

7
8.

6
-

8.
6

8.
6

-
-

-
-

-

LO
S

-
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
-

(A
)

(A
)

-
(A

)
(A

)
-

-
-

-
-

D
el

ay
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

7.
3

0.
0

-
1.

6
8.

6
-

8.
6

8.
6

-
-

-
-

-

LO
S

-
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
-

(A
)

(A
)

-
(A

)
(A

)
-

-
-

-
-

D
el

ay
-

0.
0

0.
0

0.
0

7.
4

0.
0

-
3.

6
9.

2
-

9.
2

9.
2

-
-

-
-

-

LO
S

-
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
(A

)
-

(A
)

(A
)

-
(A

)
(A

)
-

-
-

-
-

Ex
is

tin
g 

(2
02

1)

N
o-

Bu
ild

 (2
02

3)

Bu
ild

 (2
02

3)

PM
 P

ea
k 

H
ou

r

Ea
st

bo
un

d
W

es
tb

ou
nd

N
or

th
bo

un
d

So
ut

hb
ou

nd
O

ve
ra

ll 
In

te
rs

ec
tio

n

Ex
is

tin
g 

(2
02

1)

N
o-

Bu
ild

 (2
02

3)

Bu
ild

 (2
02

3)

W
es

te
rf

ie
ld

 D
riv

e 
at

 M
ap

le
 D

riv
e AM

 P
ea

k 
H

ou
r

Ea
st

bo
un

d
W

es
tb

ou
nd

N
or

th
bo

un
d

So
ut

hb
ou

nd
O

ve
ra

ll 
In

te
rs

ec
tio

n



Appendix D 
 

Synchro Reports 

  



 

Existing (2021) 

 

  



HCM 2010 TWSC 2021 Existing
1: Donnybrook Drive & Maple Drive Timing Plan: AM

Synchro 10 Report
04/14/2021

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 6 3 0 5 13 0
Future Vol, veh/h 6 3 0 5 13 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 75 75 42 42 65 65
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 8 4 0 12 20 0
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 12 0 22 10
          Stage 1 - - - - 10 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 12 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1607 - 995 1071
          Stage 1 - - - - 1013 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 1011 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1607 - 995 1071
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 995 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 1013 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 1011 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 8.7
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 995 - - 1607 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.02 - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.7 - - 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - 0 -



HCM 2010 TWSC 2021 Existing
1: Donnybrook Drive & Maple Drive Timing Plan: PM

Synchro 10 Report
04/14/2021

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.4

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 13 14 3 13 2 2
Future Vol, veh/h 13 14 3 13 2 2
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 61 61 67 67 50 50
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 21 23 4 19 4 4
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 44 0 60 33
          Stage 1 - - - - 33 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 27 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1564 - 947 1041
          Stage 1 - - - - 989 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 996 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1564 - 944 1041
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 944 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 989 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 993 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 1.4 8.7
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 990 - - 1564 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.008 - - 0.003 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.7 - - 7.3 0
HCM Lane LOS A - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 -



HCM 2010 TWSC 2021 Existing
2: Westerfield Drive & Maple Drive Timing Plan: AM

Synchro 10 Report
04/14/2021

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.7

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 6 1 1 3 3 2
Future Vol, veh/h 6 1 1 3 3 2
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 58 58 50 50 42 42
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 10 2 2 6 7 5
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 12 0 21 11
          Stage 1 - - - - 11 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 10 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1607 - 996 1070
          Stage 1 - - - - 1012 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 1013 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1607 - 995 1070
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 995 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 1012 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 1012 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 1.8 8.6
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 1024 - - 1607 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.012 - - 0.001 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.6 - - 7.2 0
HCM Lane LOS A - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 -



HCM 2010 TWSC 2021 Existing
2: Westerfield Drive & Maple Drive Timing Plan: PM

Synchro 10 Report
04/14/2021

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 13 6 7 23 1 5
Future Vol, veh/h 13 6 7 23 1 5
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 59 59 63 63 50 50
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 22 10 11 37 2 10
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 32 0 86 27
          Stage 1 - - - - 27 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 59 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1580 - 915 1048
          Stage 1 - - - - 996 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 964 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1580 - 909 1048
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 909 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 996 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 957 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 1.7 8.6
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 1022 - - 1580 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.012 - - 0.007 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.6 - - 7.3 0
HCM Lane LOS A - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 -



No-Build (2023) 

  



HCM 2010 TWSC 2023 No-Build
1: Donnybrook Drive & Maple Drive Timing Plan: AM

Synchro 10 Report
04/14/2021

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 6 3 0 5 13 0
Future Vol, veh/h 6 3 0 5 13 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 75 75 42 42 65 65
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 8 4 0 12 20 0
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 12 0 22 10
          Stage 1 - - - - 10 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 12 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1607 - 995 1071
          Stage 1 - - - - 1013 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 1011 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1607 - 995 1071
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 995 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 1013 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 1011 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 8.7
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 995 - - 1607 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.02 - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.7 - - 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - 0 -



HCM 2010 TWSC 2023 No-Build
1: Donnybrook Drive & Maple Drive Timing Plan: PM

Synchro 10 Report
04/14/2021

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.4

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 13 14 3 13 2 2
Future Vol, veh/h 13 14 3 13 2 2
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 61 61 67 67 50 50
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 21 23 4 19 4 4
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 44 0 60 33
          Stage 1 - - - - 33 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 27 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1564 - 947 1041
          Stage 1 - - - - 989 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 996 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1564 - 944 1041
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 944 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 989 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 993 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 1.4 8.7
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 990 - - 1564 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.008 - - 0.003 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.7 - - 7.3 0
HCM Lane LOS A - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 -



HCM 2010 TWSC 2023 No-Build
2: Westerfield Drive & Maple Drive Timing Plan: AM

Synchro 10 Report
04/14/2021

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.7

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 6 1 1 3 3 2
Future Vol, veh/h 6 1 1 3 3 2
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 58 58 50 50 42 42
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 10 2 2 6 7 5
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 12 0 21 11
          Stage 1 - - - - 11 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 10 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1607 - 996 1070
          Stage 1 - - - - 1012 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 1013 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1607 - 995 1070
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 995 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 1012 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 1012 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 1.8 8.6
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 1024 - - 1607 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.012 - - 0.001 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.6 - - 7.2 0
HCM Lane LOS A - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 -



HCM 2010 TWSC 2023 No-Build
2: Westerfield Drive & Maple Drive Timing Plan: PM

Synchro 10 Report
04/14/2021

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.9

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 13 6 7 24 1 5
Future Vol, veh/h 13 6 7 24 1 5
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 59 59 63 63 50 50
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 22 10 11 38 2 10
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 32 0 87 27
          Stage 1 - - - - 27 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 60 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1580 - 914 1048
          Stage 1 - - - - 996 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 963 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1580 - 908 1048
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 908 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 996 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 956 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 1.6 8.6
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 1022 - - 1580 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.012 - - 0.007 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.6 - - 7.3 0
HCM Lane LOS A - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 -



Build (2023) 



HCM 2010 TWSC 2023 Build
1: Donnybrook Drive & Maple Drive Timing Plan: AM

Synchro 10 Report
04/14/2021

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5.2

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 9 28 1 24 78 4
Future Vol, veh/h 9 28 1 24 78 4
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 75 75 42 42 65 65
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 12 37 2 57 120 6
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 49 0 92 31
          Stage 1 - - - - 31 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 61 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1558 - 908 1043
          Stage 1 - - - - 992 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 962 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1558 - 907 1043
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 907 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 992 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 961 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.3 9.6
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 913 - - 1558 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.138 - - 0.002 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 9.6 - - 7.3 0
HCM Lane LOS A - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.5 - - 0 -



HCM 2010 TWSC 2023 Build
1: Donnybrook Drive & Maple Drive Timing Plan: PM

Synchro 10 Report
04/14/2021

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.3

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 29 66 14 22 33 8
Future Vol, veh/h 29 66 14 22 33 8
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 61 61 67 67 50 50
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 48 108 21 33 66 16
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 156 0 177 102
          Stage 1 - - - - 102 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 75 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1424 - 813 953
          Stage 1 - - - - 922 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 948 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1424 - 801 953
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 801 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 922 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 934 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 2.9 9.8
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 827 - - 1424 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.099 - - 0.015 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 9.8 - - 7.6 0
HCM Lane LOS A - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.3 - - 0 -



HCM 2010 TWSC 2023 Build
2: Westerfield Drive & Maple Drive Timing Plan: AM

Synchro 10 Report
04/14/2021

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6.1

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 10 4 3 4 22 7
Future Vol, veh/h 10 4 3 4 22 7
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 58 58 50 50 42 42
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 17 7 6 8 52 17
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 24 0 41 21
          Stage 1 - - - - 21 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 20 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1591 - 970 1056
          Stage 1 - - - - 1002 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 1003 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1591 - 966 1056
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 966 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 1002 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 999 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 3.1 8.9
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 986 - - 1591 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.07 - - 0.004 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.9 - - 7.3 0
HCM Lane LOS A - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 - - 0 -



HCM 2010 TWSC 2023 Build
2: Westerfield Drive & Maple Drive Timing Plan: PM

Synchro 10 Report
04/14/2021

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 19 22 33 35 10 20
Future Vol, veh/h 19 22 33 35 10 20
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 59 59 63 63 50 50
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 32 37 52 56 20 40
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 69 0 211 51
          Stage 1 - - - - 51 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 160 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.12 - 6.42 6.22
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.42 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.42 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.218 - 3.518 3.318
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1532 - 777 1017
          Stage 1 - - - - 971 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 869 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 1532 - 750 1017
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 750 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 971 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 839 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 3.6 9.2
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 909 - - 1532 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.066 - - 0.034 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 9.2 - - 7.4 0
HCM Lane LOS A - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 - - 0.1 -


	06.24.2021 PC Agenda.pdf (p.1)
	05.13.2021 Atoka PC Minutes_.pdf (p.2-3)
	xCode Enforcement Monthly Report 2020.pdf (p.4-8)
	Resolution_Subdivision Regulation Amendments_05.13.2021.pdf (p.9-14)
	Tri Star Nutrition pic 1.pdf (p.15)
	Tri Star Nutrition pic 2.pdf (p.16)
	Resolution_PFMT Holdings _Mclaughlin Williamsburg .pdf (p.17)
	Mclaughlin Williamsburg Estates . 14 Lots.pdf (p.18)
	Resolution_PFMT Holdings _Williamsburg Mclaughlin .pdf (p.19)
	Williamsburg Mclaughlin Estates. 4 Lots.pdf (p.20)
	Resolution_PFMT Holdings _Sterling Ridge IV,V, and VI (4,5,6).pdf (p.21)
	Sterling Ridge Phase IV signed recorded plat.pdf (p.22-23)
	Sterling Ridge Phase V signed and recorded plat.pdf (p.24-26)
	Sterling Ridge Phase VI signed and recorded plat.pdf (p.27-29)
	APC Rentals Minor Subdivion  (Merged) copy.pdf (p.30-34)
	APC Rentals Site and Design Review Staff Report (Merged) copy.pdf (p.35-42)
	Maple Woods Village Subdivision Plat Staff Report (Merged) copy (Merged) copy.pdf (p.43-106)

